

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2022

The Influence of Bureaucratic Structures on Emergency Management Leaders' Adaptive Responses

Anthony M. Riscica *Walden University*

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

College of Management and Human Potential

This is to certify that the doctoral dissertation by

Anthony M. Riscica

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee Dr. Howard Schechter, Committee Chairperson, Management Faculty Dr. Labrina Jones, Committee Member, Management Faculty Dr. Kenneth Levitt, University Reviewer, Management Faculty

> Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

> > Walden University 2022

Abstract

The Influence of Bureaucratic Structures on Emergency Management Leaders' Adaptive

Responses

by

Anthony M. Riscica

MBA, College of Saint Rose 2000

BS, Siena College, 1981

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Management

Walden University

May 2022

Abstract

The influence of bureaucratic structures has been shown to affect emergency management leaders' ability to exercise adaptive responses because bureaucracy can constrain the operational effectiveness and facilitate organizational cultures not conducive to supporting adaptive responses. The purpose of this study was to explore the lived experiences of emergency management leaders in catastrophic incidents relative to bureaucratic organizing characteristics. A qualitative interpretive phenomenological analysis informed by complexity leadership theory was used to examine 12 emergency management leaders' lived experiences in a catastrophic incident context. The thematic analysis found bureaucratic structures influenced organizational member behavior and organizational structural adaptation. Participants indicated that their ability to navigate bureaucracy was critical to mitigating the negative effects of bureaucratic structure on adaptive responses. To be effective, participants noted they must balance the implementation of bureaucratic processes for control while also shaping an environment for adaptive responses. Additionally, the context of an emergency influenced participant perceptions of the capabilities and actions required. Study participants indicated relationships and team member experience were critical for achieving successful response outcomes. Based on the findings, recommendations include developing specific training that stresses the organizational system, providing increased understanding of organizational culture to maximize performance, and relationship building. The study contributes to positive social change by providing mechanisms to mitigate bureaucratic processes that could positively influence community resilience.

The Influence of Bureaucratic Structures on Emergency Management Leaders' Adaptive

Responses

by

Anthony M. Riscica

MBA, College of Saint Rose 2000

BS, Siena College, 1981

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Management

Walden University

June 2022

Dedication

This dissertation is dedicated to all the emergency management leaders throughout the United States. Their selfless service to their communities, state, and nation is an inspiration to us all. They are true American heroes.

Acknowledgments

I would like to thank my committee chair, Dr. Howard Schechter's support, responsiveness, and constructive mentorship were instrumental in the dissertation's completion. I also want to thank Dr. LaBrina Jones and Dr. Kenneth Levitt, whose constructive reviews were critical to the dissertation's successful completion. Finally, I would like to thank my family, whose support makes anything possible.

List of Tablesv
Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study
Background of the Study2
Problem Statement
Purpose of the Study
Research Questions
Conceptual Framework6
Nature of the Study
Definitions9
Assumptions10
Limitations of the Study11
Scope and Delimitations
Significance of the Study12
Significance to Practice13
Significance to Theory13
Significance to Social Change14
Summary and Transition14
Chapter 2: Literature Review
Literature Search Strategy16
Conceptual Framework18
Literature Review

Table of Contents

Context of an Extreme Catastrophic Incident	23
The Emergency Management System	24
Emergency Management Governance Structure	26
Organizational Adaptation within the Emergency Management System	28
Influence of Bureaucratic Structures on the Emergency Management	
System	33
Emergency Management Networks	45
Leadership in a Catastrophic Incident	52
Summary and Conclusions	56
Chapter 3: Research Method	59
Research Design and Rationale	60
Role of the Researcher	64
Methodology	65
Participant Selection Logic	65
Instrumentation	67
Procedures for Recruitment, Participation, and Data Collection	69
Data Analysis Plan	71
Issues of Trustworthiness	74
Credibility	74
Transferability	75
Dependability	76
Confirmability	76

Ethical Procedures
Summary77
Chapter 4: Results
Setting
Demographics
Data Collection
Data Analysis
Evidence of Trustworthiness
Credibility
Transferability
Dependability
Confirmability
Results
Superordinate Theme 1: The Effects of Bureaucratic Organizational
Structures Can Be a Limiting Factor During a Catastrophic
Incident90
Superordinate Theme 2: The Context of the Human-Caused or Natural
Disaster Influences Leader Perception of What Is Required
Superordinate Theme 3: Importance of Emergency Management
Leadership95
Superordinate Theme 4: Relationships Play a Critical Role in Influencing
Outcomes in a Catastrophic Incident101

Superordinate Theme 5: Bureaucratic Organizational Structures Processes
for Control Provide a Foundation for Organizational Adaptability103
Superordinate Theme 6: A Catastrophic Incident Forces the
Organization's Structure to Adapt105
Superordinate Theme 7: The Bureaucratic Organizing Culture Can
Influence Member Behaviors and Response Outcomes106
Superordinate Theme 8: Member Experience Influences Successful
Outcomes108
Summary109
Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations111
Interpretation of Findings111
The Effects of Bureaucratic Organizational Structures Can Be a Limiting
Factor During Catastrophic Incidents112
The Context of the Human-Caused or Natural Disaster Influences Leader
Perception of What Is Required114
Importance of Emergency Management Leadership115
Relationships Play a Critical Role in Influencing Outcomes in a
Catastrophic Incident116
The Bureaucratic Organizing Culture Can Influence Member Behaviors
and Response Outcomes118
Member Experience Influences Successful Outcomes120
Complexity Leadership Conceptual Framework120

Limitations of the Study	
Recommendations	
Implications	
Positive Social Change	124
Practice Implications	125
Theoretical Implications	126
Conclusions	
References	129
Appendix A: Interview Guide	

List of Tables

Table 1. Participant's Demographic Data	
Table 2. Superordinate Themes and Subordinate Them	nes89

Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study

Economic and societal costs from the effects of natural disasters in the United States are significant and increasing annually at a greater rate than the gross national product (GNP; Deryugina, 2017; Smith & Matthews, 2015). In consultation with the chief elected or appointed official, emergency management leaders at the local, state, and federal levels are primarily responsible for coordinating response operations to mitigate the effects of natural and human-caused disasters (United States, 2019). Since 2001, catastrophic disasters in the United States have become more complex, requiring emergency management leaders to develop new ways of addressing the challenges confronted by the effects of the disaster (Cantin et al., 2017). This increased complexity is attributed to greater multiagency coordination requirements, time-constrained decision making, conflicting internal and external stakeholder requirements, operational uncertainty, and the dynamic operating environment resulting from the disaster (Albanese & Paturas, 2018).

Bureaucratic structures can negatively influence an emergency management leader's ability to coordinate and exercise adaptive responses (Kapucu & Garayev, 2016). Historically, emergency management leaders' inability to exercise adaptive responses during catastrophic disasters has resulted in operational failures (Amernic & Craig, 2017). As Steigenberger's (2016) literature review suggests, there is minimal research on the influence of bureaucratic structures on decision making in disaster response operations. In this qualitative, phenomenological study, semistructured interviews were conducted with emergency management leaders operating in the Southeastern United States regarding their lived experiences of bureaucratic emergency management structures' influence on adaptive responses in responding to a catastrophic incident. The study findings provide emergency management leaders with the ability to better understand and develop mechanisms to exercise adaptive responses during catastrophic incidents. As emergency management leaders are confronted with catastrophic incidents, their ability to exercise adaptive responses could have a societal impact by reducing the loss of life and economic severity from the effects of the incident. Chapter 1 addresses the following areas: (a) the background of the study, (b) problem and purpose statements, (c) research question, (d) conceptual framework, (e) nature of the study, (f) key definitions, (g) assumptions, (h) limitations, (i) scope of the study, (j) significance of the study, (k) impact on practice and theory, (l) implications for social change, and (m) a summary.

Background of the Study

Emergency management organizations, characterized by rigid hierarchical, bureaucratic structures focused on control, negatively influence emergency management leader's ability to leverage collaborative networks in the emergency management system required to address the evolving challenges confronted (Kapucu & Garayev, 2016). Traditional bureaucratic structures can impede an emergency management leader's ability to balance formal organizational structure and adaptive behavior required to achieve successful operational outcomes in crises (Stark, 2014). The context of the event, routine emergency, or catastrophic incident is also a consideration in exploring the phenomenon because of the influence of the context on emergency management leader processes used in the response.

In routine emergencies, bureaucratic organizational structures usually entail hierarchically structured leadership that is expertise-driven where leaders execute responses based on standard operating procedures (SOP) and drills (Howitt et al., 2017). In catastrophic disasters, a leader's reliance on existing SOPs and plans can prove inadequate (Andrew et al., 2018). In comparison to routine emergencies, a catastrophic disaster (a) overwhelms emergency management resources and plans, (b) is less predictable by its very nature, and (c) presents novel challenges (Alexander, 2018; Leonard & Howitt, 2012). As a result, emergency management leaders need to address novel challenges with innovative solutions and exercise adaptive responses (Demiroz & Kapucu, 2012; Stark, 2014; Williams et al., 2017). Therefore, understanding the influence of bureaucratic structures on emergency management leader's adaptive responses in catastrophic disasters is critical for operational success.

The research literature discussed in this study included bureaucratic structures' influence on emergency management leader's ability to exercise adaptive responses during catastrophic incident responses through a complexity leadership theoretical lens. The context of a catastrophic incident is uniquely suited to exploring the influence of bureaucratic structures on emergency manager leader decision making because of the operational stress imposed on the organizational response. The complexity leadership theoretical lens provided a perspective of exploration that focuses on the interaction of

actors to increase understanding of the underlying challenges not always visible on the surface.

Problem Statement

Natural and human-caused disasters are a reoccurring phenomenon within the United States. Effective leadership in coordinating emergency response operations is an important consideration during a catastrophic disaster (Adams & Stewart, 2015). Historically, emergency management leader's inability to exercise adaptive responses during catastrophic disasters has resulted in operational failures (Amernic & Craig, 2017). Successful crisis response operations require leaders to be innovative, adaptive, flexible, and to coordinate emergency management informal operational networks effectively (Resodihardjo, Van Genugten, & Ruiter, 2018). The rigidity of bureaucratic organizational structures typical of emergency management organizations makes adaptive responses critical to operational success during a catastrophic event challenging. As Uhl-Bien & Arena (2018) suggest, bureaucratic organizational structures can negatively influence organizational and individual adaptive responses.

The general problem is that emergency management bureaucratic organizational structures, although acceptable for routine emergencies, can negatively influence adaptive responses during complex catastrophic responses (Ansell & Boin, 2017). The specific problem this study addressed is some emergency management leaders operating in bureaucratic organizational structures in the Southeastern United States may not understand how to exercise adaptive responses necessary for successful operational outcomes during complex catastrophic disasters (Johannessen, 2017; Kapucu & Van

Wart, 2008; Steigenberger, 2016). Based on a literature review, there was a lack of research available exploring the lived experiences of emergency management leaders addressing the influence of bureaucratic structures on adaptive responses during a catastrophic incident.

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this interpretive phenomenological analysis (IPA) study was to explore the lived experiences of emergency management leaders operating in the Southeastern United States relative to the bureaucratic organizational structure's characteristic of emergency management organizations in catastrophic disasters. Using a complexity leadership theoretical lens to inform the study's conceptual framework, the research focused on exploring the lived experiences of emergency management leaders exercising leadership responding to catastrophic disasters at the county, state, and national level. The study themes identified address techniques emergency management leaders could use to facilitate adaptive responses during catastrophic incidents.

Research Questions

The following three research questions guided the study research:

Research Question 1 (RQ1): What are the lived experiences of emergency management leaders in catastrophic disasters given the bureaucratic organizational structures in which they operate?

Research Question 2 (RQ2): How do emergency management leaders find equilibrium between bureaucratic organizing processes and the need for adaptive responses in catastrophic incidents? Research Question 3 (RQ3): How does member behavior in bureaucratic structures influence emergency management leader decision making?

Conceptual Framework

The study's conceptual framework was developed based on a review of the literature associated with bureaucratic structures' influence on emergency leader adaptive responses during catastrophic incidents. An emergency management leader's ability to exercise adaptive responses during a catastrophic incident can be influenced by the bureaucratic structure within which they operate. The use of a conceptual framework allowed me to explore the relationship between bureaucratic structures and emergency management leader's understanding of how to exercise adaptive responses in catastrophic incidents. The traditional emergency management bureaucratic structures processes and procedures focused on control can limit emergency management leader's ability to exercise adaptive responses required of catastrophic incidents during response operations (Kapucu & Garayev, 2016). The bureaucratic control mechanisms and the emergency management leader's understanding of how to exercise adaptive responses in catastrophic incidents can be limiting factors in achieving successful operational outcomes.

Complexity leadership theory informed the conceptual framework for this study. Marion & Uhl-Bien (2001) first presented complexity leadership theory to address leadership challenges in an increasingly complex operating environment. Deviating from a traditional reductionist approach, Marion & Uhl-Bien (2001) applied complexity theory to the leadership domain to better understand the underlying interactions that can generate the emergence of novel solutions to the leadership challenges confronted. Marion & Uhl-Bien (2001) viewed the leader's operating environment as a dynamic complex adaptive system.

The emergency management system in which emergency management leaders operate, with an internal series of subsystems working in collaboration as operating nodes of the larger system, is representative of a complex adaptive system. Uhl-Bien and Arena (2018) suggest the adaptive response process results from the tension between a leader's requirement to innovate and the control required of the bureaucratic organizational structures. As a leader's requirement for innovative adaptive decisions is exercised to address the situations confronted, tension results based on the bureaucratic system pressure to control the organizing processes (Uhl-Bien & Arena, 2018). This conflict is manifested in what Uhl-Bien and Arena (2018) identify in the framework as adaptive space. The objective of operational leaders, as Uhl-Bien and Arena suggest, is to enable adaptive space by facilitating stakeholders or agent's interaction within the system to achieve novel solutions to complex problems. Complexity leadership theory is grounded in informal behavior research developed in the early 1900s and was expanded to include complex adaptive systems in the early 2000s (Uhl-Bien & Marion, 2009). Complexity leadership theory focuses on leadership within a complex adaptive system (CAS; Uhl-Bien, et al., 2007). A CAS is "open, evolutionary aggregates whose components (or agents) are dynamically interrelated and who are cooperatively bounded by a common purpose" (Marion & Uhl-Bien, 2008, p. 193). A CAS is a dynamic system characterized by uncertainty and change in response to the organizational environment (Uhl-Bien & Marion, 2009). The emergency management system is representative of a CAS

(Kontogiannis & Malakis, 2020). This conceptual framework was suitable for exploring emergency management leaders' lived experiences in a catastrophic disaster given the bureaucratic organizing structures they operate within and their need for adaptive responses to novel situations confronted.

Nature of the Study

An IPA approach in the hermeneutic tradition was used for this study. As Moran (2002) suggests, a phenomenological approach examines how individuals experience phenomena. Interpretive phenomenology is well suited for exploring complex topics (Smith & Osborn, 2015). An IPA approach allows the researcher to understand how individuals make sense of complex situations confronted considering the context and operational environment (Alase, 2017). IPA was an appropriate research approach since the research goal was to explore how individuals understand the construct and experience decision making based on context and the challenges confronted (Paterson & Higgs, 2005). An IPA approach was well suited to explore the lived experiences of emergency management leaders confronted with situations requiring adaptive responses associated with catastrophic disasters given the bureaucratic organizing structures within which they operate.

The data collection was accomplished with semistructured interviews of civilian emergency management leaders operating in the Southeastern United States who had experienced a catastrophic incident within the last 5 years. The data was categorized, and thematic patterns identified using NVivo Plus version 12. Purposive sampling was used to select study participants. Twelve emergency management leaders involved in supporting catastrophic incident response operations within the past 5 years participated in the study. Manson (2010) suggests the sample size for a phenomenological study range from 5-25 interviews. The literature varies on the number of sample interviews required to achieve topic saturation. Smith et al. (2009) suggest an acceptable sample size for traditional IPA studies between 3 and 6 study participants.

The data was analyzed using the six-step IPA methodological framework outlined by Smith et al. (2009). To enable the data analysis, a reflective journal was used within NiVivo 12 Plus. Additional information was compiled from emergency management leader agency websites and public media reports specific to the interviewee's catastrophic incident and organizing processes. Procedures addressing issues of trustworthiness were incorporated throughout the data analysis process.

Definitions

Adaptive response: is a fundamental change in the process implemented by a leader, which results in a change in the relationship between an organization and its ecosystem based on a challenge confronted (Glover et al., 2002; Glover et al., 2002; Northouse, 2018).

Bureaucracy: is a formal organizing structure that is based on a hierarchical leadership structure where power is derived from position and exercised through administrative processes associated with rules and regulations (Simon et al., 2018).

Catastrophic incident: Based on the emergency management leader's perspective, federal, state or county level, an extreme event that causes the collective response

capability to be overwhelmed, resulting in a possible threat to security, economic system, and/or safety of the population (United States, 2019).

Complex Adaptive System (CAS): is an open system that generates adaptive responses through conflict between forces that disrupt and stabilize the equilibrium of the system (Uhl-Bien & Arena, 2017).

Emergency management network: is a grouping of multiple interagency organizational stakeholders the come together to build increased capacity and synergies in response to a catastrophic incident.

Emergency management leader: is a person that is responsible for policy, planning, supporting, or coordinating responses to routine emergencies and catastrophic incidents.

Response: is any activity to save lives, protect property and the environment, stabilize the incident, and meet basic human needs following an incident, including the execution of emergency plans and facilitation of recovery operations (United States, 2019).

Assumptions

The study was based on three assumptions. First, I assumed prospective interviewees were honest and forthcoming in their beliefs and experiences relating to the phenomena without fear of retribution. Second, the number of emergency management leaders who supported a response to a catastrophic incident within the Southeastern United States who were willing to be interviewed was sufficient to achieve saturation. Third, the study participants had the requisite level of experience operating in bureaucratic structures and the emergency management career field to understand the intent of the interview questions.

Limitations of the Study

The study was not without limitations. First, the study sample population was limited to emergency management leaders operating in the Southeastern United States who had led or supported response operations during a catastrophic incident within the last 5 years. Second, as a result of the sample size, the study findings are not generalizable to other emergency management leaders in different areas of the country. Third, the lack of racial diversity among study participants limited the study by not exploring how race may have influenced the lived experiences of emergency management leaders during a catastrophic incident.

IPA research methodology has been criticized for what are perceived to be limitations of this research approach. First, researchers have called into question the ability of the study participant and the researcher to effectively communicate experiences with the requisite detail to truly understand the meaning of the experience conveyed (Willig, 2013). As Tuffour (2017) suggests, this limitation was overcome by increased diligence in collecting rich and detailed information from the study participants. Second, IPA's focus on understanding the study participant's rich experience is based on their unique perception of the experience, there is no explanation of why the phenomena are happening. As Willig (2013) suggests, IPA is more about the description of individual experiences than why the phenomena are occurring.

Scope and Delimitations

The study was limited to the Southeastern United States. The sample population consisted of emergency management leaders who had been involved in catastrophic incidents within the last 5 years. The study's focus was derived based on a literature review indicating a limited amount of research on emergency management leaders' response to catastrophic incidents and bureaucratic structures. The exploratory nature of the qualitative study precludes transferability to other sample populations.

Significance of the Study

This study contributes to the literature on crisis leadership by exploring the lived experiences of emergency management leader's understanding of adaptive responses in catastrophic disasters given the bureaucratic structures within which they operate. Geir (2016) suggests that even though catastrophic events continue to call attention to leadership challenges, leadership during catastrophic events remains one of the least studied areas in leadership. The study is unique because it focuses on an under researched area of crisis and crisis management (Williams et al., 2017), with a specific focus on emergency management leaders lived experiences viewed through a complexity leadership theoretical lens. Understanding the influence of bureaucratic structures on adaptive responses is essential from a practitioner and societal perspective (Uhl-Bien & Arena, 2018). A leader's ability to exercise adaptive responses can increase response operations' effectiveness by reducing the loss of life, economic impacts, or environmental effects. As Hannah et al. (2009), Kapucu and Van Wart (2008), and Jong et al. (2016) suggest, ineffective leadership in catastrophic events has directly influenced the inability of emergency management organizations to achieve organizational outcomes successfully. Adaptive responses are critical for success in dynamic complex operational environments, and bureaucratic structures' linear hierarchy and focus on maintaining order can be a limiting factor for leaders (Uhl-Bien & Arena, 2017).

Significance to Practice

Adaptive responses by emergency management leaders have been identified as critical components in achieving successful operational response outcomes (Amernic & Craig, 2017). The study findings provide emergency management practitioners an increased understanding of the relationship between bureaucratic structures, adaptive responses, and complex catastrophic incidents that could be used to develop emergency management leader training programs. The leader training programs could increase understanding of techniques to exercise adaptive responses in bureaucratic organizational documents resulting in more effective operational outcomes.

Significance to Theory

Theories focused on CAS consider the influence of leadership on informal network interactions (Uhl-Bien & Arena, 2018), and that could facilitate novel solutions to complex situations confronted in a given context. The study is significant to theory in two ways. First, the study findings advance complexity leadership theory research by increasing the understanding of the relationship between bureaucratic structures and emergency management leader's understanding of how to exercise adaptive responses in catastrophic incidents. Second, applying a complexity leadership theoretical lens to explore the phenomena advances the understanding of the influence complexity leadership theory could have on increased emergency management leader's understanding of how to exercise adaptive responses in the context of a catastrophic incident.

Significance to Social Change

The study findings provide emergency management leaders the ability to better understand and develop mechanisms to exercise adaptive responses during complex catastrophic events. As emergency management leaders are confronted with complex catastrophic events, their ability to exercise adaptive responses positively influences response outcomes by reducing the loss of life and economic severity from the effects of the event. As emergency management leaders more effectively mitigate response outcomes, overall community resilience is positively impacted.

Summary and Transition

This study explored the lived experiences of emergency management leaders supporting response operations in the Southeastern United States, relating to bureaucratic structures and adaptive responses during catastrophic incidents. Emergency management leader's inability to exercise adaptive responses in a bureaucratic structure during catastrophic incidents has resulted in less effective response outcomes. The conceptual framework for the study explored the relationship between bureaucratic structures and emergency management leader's understanding of how to exercise adaptive responses in catastrophic incidents. An IPA approach was used to explore the lived experiences of emergency management leaders.

Exploring this phenomenon identified areas of future research and further advance the limited research currently identified. The study has significance to practice, theory, and social change. From a practice perspective, the study provides insight into developing additional emergency management leader training. Applying a complexity leadership theoretical lens to explore the phenomena of adaptive leadership in bureaucratic structures advances the understanding of the influence complexity leadership theory on understanding the study phenomena. An increased understanding of the phenomena could positively impact emergency management system resiliency. Chapter 2 will explain the conceptual framework used in the study, present a detailed review of the literature associated with the influence of bureaucratic structures on emergency management leader adaptive responses, and close with a summary.

Chapter 2: Literature Review

The purpose of this phenomenological study was to explore the lived experiences of emergency management leaders in the Southeastern United States in the context of bureaucratic organizational structures during catastrophic disasters. The general problem is that emergency management bureaucratic organizational structures, although acceptable for routine emergencies, can negatively influence adaptive responses during complex catastrophic responses (Ansell & Boin, 2017). The specific problem this study addressed is some emergency management leaders operating in bureaucratic organizational structures supporting response operations in the Southeastern United States may not understand how to exercise adaptive responses necessary for successful operational outcomes during complex catastrophic disasters (Kapucu & Van Wart, 2008; Johannessen, 2017; Steigenberger, 2016). The literature reviewed suggests a lack of research on emergency management leader's lived experiences addressing the relationship between the influence of bureaucratic structures and their understanding of how to exercise adaptive responses in an emergency management context.

Literature Search Strategy

The literature search strategy used in exploring the research problem and study methodology was focused on obtaining relevant peer-reviewed and seminal research articles. The key concepts found in the study research questions formed the primary basis for developing key terms used in the literature search. A top-down approach was used with the initial search of broad topic areas that, upon review, led to a more refined literature search narrowing in on the research problem's specifics. Based on the research identified, the search was further refined to identify specific seminal research articles and more recent research addressing the research problem used in the study. The primary time frame used in the search was articles published less than 5 years from the anticipated study completion of 2022. The time frame constraint was not a limiting factor for seminal and other foundational articles designed to identify the literature on the research problem evolution over time. Quantitative and qualitative articles were considered during the literature search of academic and governmental databases.

The search terms used in the research strategy included *adaptive leadership*, adaptive responses and catastrophic incidents, bureaucracy, bureaucracy and complex catastrophic incidents, bureaucracy and crisis management, bureaucracy and disaster preparedness, bureaucracy and emergency management, bureaucracy and extreme events, bureaucratic structures, crisis decision making, crisis leadership, complexity leadership theory, crisis management, complexity theory, crisis leadership and catastrophic incidents, Deepwater Horizon, disaster response, disaster management, disaster and bureaucracy, disaster theory, emergency management, emergency operations center, extreme event, Hurricane Katrina, Hurricane Maria, Hurricane Sandy, interpretive phenological analysis research, leadership in bureaucratic structures, 911, organizational adaptation in emergency management, phenomenology, world trade center terrorist attack, qualitative research, transactional leadership, and transformational leadership.

Multiple databases were accessed to obtain peer-reviewed articles through the Walden University online library and directly through online portals. These databases included Academic Search Complete, Emerald Insight, ERIC, Federal Emergency Management Agency, Google Scholar, Harvard University Kennedy School, Homeland Security Digital Library, ProQuest, PsycARTICLES, SAGE Journals, ScienceDirect, Thoreau, University of Delaware Disaster Research Center, U.S. Fire Administration, U.S. Government Accountability Office, Walden University dissertations. Most of the terms identified were used in searches of the databases. In addition to articles obtained through database searches, multiple books in the topic areas of emergency management and phenomenological research were reviewed.

Conceptual Framework

Complexity leadership theory provides the foundation for the conceptual framework used to explore the relationship between bureaucratic structures and emergency management leader's understanding of how to exercise adaptive responses in catastrophic incidents. Uhl-Bien et al. (2007), in response to the lack of leadership research addressing the complexities of an evolving knowledge-centric economy, were some of the first researchers to introduce CLT as a leadership research framework (Brown, 2011; Rosenhead et al., 2019). By examining a leader's ability to facilitate organizational effectiveness, Marion and Uhl-Bien (2001) posited complexity theory's application to leadership research could provide an understanding of how to examine leadership in complex adaptive systems.

Based on complexity theory, Uhl-Bien et al. (2007) posited a complexity leadership theory that characterizes organizations as complex adaptive systems. Uhl-Bien et al. (2007) suggested complexity leadership theory examines leadership behaviors that can enable the organizational system and network participant's ability to innovate and adapt by influencing the operational networks within bureaucratic organizing structures. Uhl-Bien et al. (2007) suggested a model of CLT with three leadership functions (a) administrative leadership, based informal control structures, (b) enabling leadership, actions that set conditions to facilitate adaptive leadership in the organizational complex adaptive systems, and (c) adaptive leadership, sets conditions for organizational adaptability and innovation based on social network interaction within the complex adaptive system. Uhl-Bien et al. (2007) suggested that each of these functions coexist in an intertwined relationship where the formal administrative, informal adaptive, and enabling functions interact toward equilibrium with a goal of increased organizational efficiency. Uhl-Bien et al. (2007) suggest a central role for enabling leadership is to facilitate the organizational systems movement toward equilibrium.

In Uhl-Bien and Arena's (2018) cross-disciplinary literature review on organizational adaptability, the authors built upon the previous work of Marion and Uhl-Bien (2001), Uhl-Bien et al. (2007), refined the leadership functions of CLT and posited a complexity leadership framework of leadership for organizational adaptability. In the framework (a) adaptive leadership is relabeled as entrepreneurial leadership, focused on those leadership actions designed to create innovative solutions to complex problems, (b) administrative leadership is relabeled as operational leadership, focused on traditional bureaucratic leadership functions, and (c) enabling leadership facilitates the development of adaptive space, focused on "creating structures and processes" p.98 to facilitate organizational adaptability. Uhl-Bien and Arena (2018) suggest a significant implication from their study findings is an over-emphasis of scholarly research focused on organizational performance, without sufficient exploration of the relationship between organizational performances and organizational adaptability.

In catastrophic incidents, emergency management leaders exercise leadership in dynamic, nonlinear, operating environments filled with uncertainty and complex stakeholder networks representative of a complex adaptive system (Comfort et al., 2019; Denham & Baker, 2019; Hodges, 2018). Most emergency management leaders exercise leadership during response operations through formal bureaucratic structures with defined processes for planning, operations, and command and control (United States, 2019; Whittaker et al., 2015). Bureaucratic structures can influence an emergency management leader's ability to facilitate adaptive responses and achieve successful operational outcomes (Takeda et al., 2017). The effects of catastrophic incidents result in a punctuated change that requires emergency management leaders to exercise adaptive responses to meet the novel challenges confronted (Quarantelli et al., 2018). The emergency management leader exercising adaptive responses in the context of a catastrophic incident would suggest, based on the complexity leadership framework of leadership for organizational adaptability, their use of an enabling leadership style (Uhl-Bien & Arena, 2018).

In an emergency management context, conflict results from the tension caused by the formal bureaucratic operational structure's influence and the need to exercise adaptive responses required for successful response outcomes (Carlson et al., 2017; Uhl-Bien & Arena, 2018). In the emergency management ecosystem, emergency management leaders must create an environment that brings together network stakeholders within the system to achieve desired outcomes (Comfort et al., 2019; Paturas et al., 2016). Leadership behavior, not positional leadership within an organization, fosters a conducive environment for network participant interaction resulting in the emergence of novel solutions (Lichtenstein & Plowman, 2009). Emergency management leader's ability to exercise adaptive responses can be limited by the emergency management system's bureaucratic structures.

The lack of leadership research on the influence adaptability has on organizational performance identified by Uhl-Bien and Arena (2018) is also applicable to leadership research in the emergency management domain. Comfort et al. (2019) suggest emergency management literature has focused on three areas when considering catastrophic incidents performance, information technology, and network analysis. A researcher should consider the effect of performance and the need for organizational adaptability as a catalyst for achieving organizational outcomes (Uhl-Bien & Arena, 2018).

A growing number of public sector administrators and leadership researchers have suggested traditional leadership models do not fully explain leadership in a dynamic complex operating environment (Murphy, et al., 2017). In Brouillette and Quarantelli's (1971) seminal article that considers complex organizations under stress, the authors suggested bureaucratic organizing models are not effective in understanding how organizations adapt to environmental stressors in an emergency management context. Leadership research has not focused on the leader skills associated with the management of adaptive organizations (Uhl-Bien & Arena, 2018; Rosenhead et al., 2019).

Uhl-Bien and Arena's (2018) research implications indicate there needs to be more research on how leaders enable organizational adaptability in a CAS. Denham and Baker (2019) suggest there are limited studies of the components within the emergency management system through CAS's lens. Denham and Baker (2019) suggest exploring the emergency management system through a CAS lens would increase understanding of the emergence of new structures outside the central bureaucratic control that emerge during a catastrophic incident. Using a CAS lens could facilitate the identification of emergent groups that could increase response effectiveness if integrated into response efforts.

Chen, Zhang et al. (2020), literature review identifies only two areas where CAS were applied in emergency management research. First, from the aspect of a socioecological system (Smith et al., 2011). Second, from the context of managing an emergency management response (Chen et al., 2020). A limited number of empirical studies apply CLT to organizational settings (Tourish, 2019) or the influence of bureaucratic structures on emergency manager adaptive responses in a catastrophic incident (Christensen et al., 2016; Comfort et al., 2019). Therefore, the complexity leadership framework of leadership for organizational adaptability application to the emergency management domain is uniquely suited when considering the influence of bureaucratic structures on leader adaptability in the context of a catastrophic incident. This study will explore the gap in literature addressing emergency management leaders

understanding and ability to exercise adaptive responses, given bureaucratic organizing structures, in the context of a catastrophic incident.

Literature Review

Context of an Extreme Catastrophic Incident

There is a significant distinction between the operational context of a catastrophic incident and a routine emergency (Kapucu & Demiroz, 2017). The contextual distinction between catastrophic incidents and routine emergencies is a consideration in disaster research because of the difference in their effects on societal systems and emergency management leader requirements necessary to achieve successful operational outcomes. Hannah et al. (2009) suggest the operational context of extreme incidents are characterized by (a) large scale negative effects on societal and organizational norms, (b) overwhelming disruption of societal systems and organizational structures, and (c) significant disruptions in societal and organizational resiliency. In a catastrophic incident, the emergency management system is subject to a dynamic punctuated change that degrades the system's ability to function as intended (Broska et al., 2020).

In catastrophic incidents, the greater degree of complexity, uncertainty, and disruption of societal systems requires emergency management leaders to exercise leadership differently than in routine emergencies (Demiroz & Kapucu, 2012; Kapucu & Van Wart, 2006; Takeda et al., 2017). In routine emergencies, the emergency management system is not overwhelmed, and the incident effects can be mitigated by emergency management leaders executing plans or SOPs (Nohrstedt, 2016; Jiang & Yuan, 2019). The lesser degree of disruption to the societal and emergency management
systems in routine emergencies reduces the need for extensive emergency response management. In catastrophic incidents, emergency management leaders need to enable the emergency management network stakeholders to adapt their networks to achieve successful outcomes in response to the novel challenges confronted (Wukich & Robinson, 2013). A challenge for the emergency management leaders is balancing the need for situational control and organizational adaptation during the response to catastrophic incidents. Maintaining an effective equilibrium between competing processes is critical for effective emergency management response operations. Emergency management leader's ability to balance bureaucratic organizing processes and the need for adaptive responses within the emergency management system continues to be identified as a challenge among scholars contributing to unsuccessful operational outcomes (Oh & Lee, 2020).

The literature identifies a unique set of operational challenges facing emergency management leaders compared to routine incidents. The increased level of uncertainty, complexity, and magnitude of effects on social systems can overwhelm organizational processes and procedures. A critical factor in achieving required response outcomes is the emergency management leader's ability to overcome the bureaucratic barriers within the emergency management system and exercise adaptive responses through a balanced approach.

The Emergency Management System

The emergency management system today has evolved based on political and societal stakeholder reaction to the effects of the most recent catastrophic incident and

not a function of methodical planning for possible future threats (Cutter, 2019; Roberts, et al., 2020). Cutter (2019) suggests emergency management has been defined by (a) reactive legislation implemented to solve challenges identified in the last catastrophic incident, (b) shifting prioritization of emergency management, (c) the inability of emergency management leaders to learn from past mistakes, and (d) a disproportional impact on the disadvantaged communities. The lack of an anticipatory planning construct, reactive legislative action, public sector bureaucracy (Roberts et al., 2020), and emergency management leaders' failure to implement disaster researcher findings (Harrald, 2020) contribute to reduced emergency management systems effectiveness. In this increasingly challenging environment, an emergency management leader's ability to successfully coordinate and collaborate with stakeholders has continued to grow more complex with each catastrophic incident (Light, 2011; Roberts et al., 2020).

As the emergency management system transitions from typical day to day to catastrophic incident operations, the increase in requirements can reduce its effectiveness. This decrease in system effectiveness can reduce the effectiveness of the response. Comfort et al. (2019) suggests that an emergency management leader's ability to manage this transition can be challenging and negatively influence operational outcomes.

The establishment of the emergency management system has not followed a detailed process designed to evolve to a desired end state, contributing to ineffective response efforts. This lack of detailed planning in the formulating of institutional processes has negatively influenced emergency management leader response execution. As the number and complexity of catastrophic incidents continue to grow, the debate on how best to balance governance structures for responding to catastrophic incidents continues to be a consideration for scholars and practitioners.

Emergency Management Governance Structure

In the absence of a catastrophic incident, emergency management response organizations operate within the traditional bureaucratic structures' boundaries during routine daily operations (United States, 2019; Whittaker et al., 2015). A catastrophic incident brings about a punctuated change stressing organizational processes that trigger the organization's requirement to adapt to meet the challenges confronted (Bănică et al., 2020). The emergency management leader's ability to enable organizational processes to adapt based on the challenges confronted while balancing the bureaucratic processes rigidity can positively influence the response's effectiveness.

Organizing structure is a consideration when determining crisis response effectiveness (Christensen et al., 2016; Rodríguez-Espíndola et al., 2018). The most effective governance structure in a catastrophic incident has been the subject of scholarly debate (Nowell et al., 2018). Researchers have primarily posited two positions to effectively manage catastrophic incidents (Marcum et al., 2012). The traditional bureaucratic command and control structure and a more decentralized network approach. Some scholars have argued that the defined roles and responsibilities that a bureaucratic governance structure provides strengthens the emergency management system by providing mechanisms for organizational learning, and bureaucratic processes can facilitate decision making in periods of uncertainty (Moynihan, 2008b). Bureaucracy also can bring control to chaos during response operations. Moynihan (2008a) suggests bureaucracy can increase response effectiveness by providing centralized control and structure.

The case for a more decentralized approach is rooted in the need for organizational adaptability and flexibility in periods of uncertainty. Kapucu et al. (2010) suggest an abundance of literature highlighting how the lack of organizational adaptability can negatively influence effective responses. One of the primary causes of response failures during Hurricane Katrina was the bureaucratic structures' inability to adapt effectively to the overwhelming challenges confronted (Bier 2006; Boin et al., 2020). The emergency response system can be overwhelmed by an inability of centralized governance structures to adapt and reach the scale necessary to effectively respond to catastrophic incident effects (Newall et al., 2018). A level of organizational flexibility and adaptability is required to achieve successful response outcomes in catastrophic incidents (Comfort, 2007; Kapucu, et al., 2010; Kapucu & Garayev, 2016). An emergency management system solely based on a hierarchal structure, with a topdown approach to command and control, can degrade effective outcomes in dynamic, uncertain operational environments (Kapucu & Garayev, 2016; Roberts et al., 2020).

As indicated by the previous researchers, each governance structure has its unique set of benefits and challenges that have to be considered by emergency management leaders. Each of the organizing structures coexists in the emergency management system during a catastrophic incident. A consideration for emergency management leaders is how to achieve equilibrium in response efforts between the bureaucratic centric emergency management organization and the need for a more decentralized organizational adaptation. Balancing the two organizing structures is a critical component for increased response effectiveness as the organization transitions from routine operations to catastrophic response (Comfort et al., 2019).

Organizational Adaptation within the Emergency Management System

The Disaster Research Center (DRC) of the University of Delaware has developed one of the first topologies for examining groups and organizational adaptation in a disaster management context identified in the literature as the typology of organized disaster response (Brouillette & Quarantelli, 1971; Dynes & Aguirre, 1979; Kreps & Bosworth, 2007; Quarantelli & Dynes, 1977). The topology is still relevant and used by researchers examining organizational engagement in a disaster context because it provides an effective mechanism for evaluating the characteristics of organizations responding to a catastrophic incident (Kreps & Bosworth, 2007; Linnenluecke & McKnight, 2017; Quarantelli & Dynes, 1977; Strandh & Eklund, 2018). The research provides empirical data that, when confronted with a catastrophic incident, bureaucratic structures will need to adapt based on stressors in their operating environment.

The topology characterizes organizations by old and new structures executing old and new tasks (Strandh & Eklund, 2018). The topology assists in identifying different types of groups that should be considered by emergency management leaders as response operations expand to meet the increased operational requirements associated with the effects of a catastrophic incident (Quarantelli & Dynes, 1977; Strandh & Eklund, 2018; Whittakar et al., 2015). Two seminal studies on organized disaster response conducted by Brouillette and Quarantelli (1971) and Quarantelli and Dynes (1977) consider the relationship between bureaucratic, structural adaptation, and organized response in a disaster context. This seminal research provides the foundational underpinnings for studies on organizational adaptation that have followed.

Brouillette and Quarantelli (1971) considered complex organizations under stress in an emergency management context. The authors suggested informal structures are not substituted for formal structures as a response to internal and external organizational stressors. Both structures coexist within the system during a catastrophic incident response. Brouillette and Quarantelli (1971) posited that the degree of adaptation from traditional day-to-day operations is positively related to the organizational system's level of stress from the external operating environment. As the catastrophic incident evolves, so does the required adaptation level needed to meet to novel challenges confronted. In their qualitative study, Brouillette and Quarantelli (1971) used field data from the Disaster Research Center during this time period at Ohio State University to evaluate complex organizations responding to 70 natural disasters. Brouillette and Quarantelli (1971) posited a model of bureaucratic adaptation to organizational stress. The model identifies four types of organizational adaptation (a) Type I, represents a minimal change to the organizational structure, response operations are executed within regular tasks, (b) Type II, the organizational structure was modified to add additional personnel and capability, but the tasks performed remained the same, (c) Type III, the structure remained the same, but the tasks changed in response to the effects of the incident, and (d) Type IV, both the organizational structure adapted, and the tasks changed to meet the challenges confronted.

Brouillette and Quarantelli (1971) findings suggested (a) bureaucratic organizing structures are inadequate during periods of extreme stress and go through an adaptation process that does not replace the formal structure but adapts to meet the challenges confronted, (b) leader perceptions influence the extent of adaptation, (c) the degree of stress on organizational members is related to increase in organizational adaptation, and (d) the higher the degree of autonomy in an organization the greater the degree of adaptation in its subunits before an adaption of the parent organization. The bureaucratic adaptation model applies to most bureaucracy organizations in an emergency management context based on data from several hundred organizations facing crises (Brouillette & Quarantelli, 1971).

The model suggested by Brouillette and Quarantelli (1971) considers organizational adaptation on a continuum of the effects of organizational stress. Type I can be associated with a routine emergency. As the complexity and disruption to societal systems increase, the organization evolves to confront the challenges and patterns of their responses through Type II, Type III, and Type IV structural adaptations. Brouillette and Quarantelli (1971) identified that during periods of organizational stress, more adaptive processes can be incorporated into the bureaucratic system.

Parker, et al. (2020) study findings support the bureaucratic adaptation model. The authors found as the effects of the catastrophic incident increase, so do the need for organizational adaptation to support interagency stakeholder collaboration. Bureaucratic organizational adaptation is not without its challenges. Specifically, the hierarchical positioning of leadership in bureaucratic organizing structures can facilitate misunderstandings on the division of labor for the catastrophic incident response (Parker et al., 2020).

Bureaucratic organizing structures can create barriers to effective incorporation of interagency and emergent groups into response efforts. Organized and emergent groups within the emergency management system add to the level of response complexity and emergency management leaders' requirement to exercise adaptive responses and operational flexibility (Strandh & Eklund, 2018). Whittaker et al. (2015) suggest that the level of acceptance and group participation in response operations is primarily dependent on the formal response agency organizational structure. The rigidity of a bureaucratic structure associated with emergency management organizations can limit response outcomes because of the lack of adequate inclusion of groups, especially emergent groups, in the overall response effort (Dynes, 1994; Whittakar et al., 2015).

Dynes and Quarantelli (1977), expanding the field study data to consider group types and problems that groups encounter in a disaster context. The qualitative study was a compilation of data from 200 field studies by the Disaster Research Center of Ohio State University. The authors suggested a topology with four types of groups based on their status as established or emergent groups. Dynes and Quarantelli's (1977) model identifies four types of groups (a) Type I, established groups in bureaucratic structures executing within regular tasks, i.e., first responders, (b) Type II, expanding organizations that perform within their routine tasks, but the structure adapts, these primarily volunteer organizations that have a latent emergency response responsibility during disasters, i.e., Salvation Army volunteers providing meals, (c) Type III, extending organizations, an established group with the same structure executing non-regular tasks that may be new to their core functions; i.e., homebuilder performing debris removal operations with excavators, and (d) Type IV, an emergent group, that did not exist before the disaster, with new structures executing non-regular tasks, i.e., multi-agency task force coordinating response operations. Dynes and Quarantelli (1977) suggest the disaster severity determine the level of existence of all four groups and one of the significant challenges to the groups in a disaster is establishing organizational boundaries.

A limitation of the DRC topology identified by Strandh and Eklund (2018) is the topologies focus on tasks and structures without considering the influence of actor motivations on emergent group establishment. An additional emergency management leader challenge drawn from the topology is the need for coordinating the integration of groups based on functions into the overarching response framework when many of the groups, especially expanding and emerging groups, are not directly in the emergency management leaders' organizational structure (Stallings & Quarantelli, 1985; Strandh & Eklund, 2018; Whittakar et al., 2015). In most catastrophic incidents, emerging groups will be present and engage in response operations (Strandh & Eklund, 2018; Twigg & Mosel, 2017; Whittakar et al., 2015). The bureaucratic command and control model of most emergency management agencies does not support integrating emergent groups into response operations (Twigg & Mosel, 2017). To increase response effectiveness, the emergency management leader and the overall system will have to adapt and improvise to incorporate emergent groups.

The DRC's seminal work on organization and group behavior has provided the researcher with a mechanism to examine organized behavior in a catastrophic incident context (Schmidt, et al., 2018). The DRC topology application allows exploring bureaucratic structure adaptation based on environmental factors that are part of the emergency management network. As the emergency management leader reacts to organizational stress during a catastrophic incident, a desired operational end state is creating novel solutions to the complex problems generated by those stressors. The emergency management leader must manage the organizational adaptation in a dynamic operational environment during increased uncertainty to achieve successful operational adaptation process by including all stakeholders, including emergent groups, into the emergency management system. This process is often extremely challenging for emergency management leaders because of the barriers put in place by bureaucratic processes.

Influence of Bureaucratic Structures on the Emergency Management System

Most emergency management agencies in the public sector are based on a bureaucratic organizational model (United States, 2019; Whittaker et al., 2015). Weber's seminal research on bureaucratic organizational structures suggests bureaucracies are typified as having (a) defined rules and regulations based on a hierarchical organizing structure, (b) codified operating processes and procedures, (c) clearly defined roles and responsibilities, and (d) positioning within the hierarchical structure is ideally based on expertise and merit (Hall, 1963; Martela, 2019; Sager & Rosser, 2009; Weber, 1978). An entity's organizing structure can influence organizational effectiveness, especially in periods of uncertainty.

A key characteristic of a catastrophic incident is a high degree of uncertainty (Sawalha, 2018). Leadership in bureaucratic structures attempts to reduce uncertainty and complexity caused by a punctuated change to the organizational system by implementing rules and processes designed to bring control to the situation (Christensen et al., 2016; Gil-Garcia, et al., 2016). Within bureaucratic structures, emergency management leaders must understand how to adapt organizational stakeholders and networks to achieve successful organizational outcomes without moving to control as the primary alternative. A bureaucratic organizing model can limit organizational adaptability, flexibility, and response operations effectiveness during catastrophic incidents (Wukich & Robinson, 2013). Interagency coordination, a critical component of an effective response, can be negatively influenced by bureaucratic processes. As Oh and Lee's (2020) systematic review of emergency management literature found, bureaucratic organizing structures can negatively affect interagency coordination during response operations. The ridged bureaucratic processes in place fail to allow the effective inclusion of interagency stakeholders.

Takeda and Helms (2006a) examined the bureaucratic emergency management system response model using a catastrophic tsunami response impacting India, Sri Lanka, Thailand, and Indonesia in December of 2004 as a case study. The study was later repeated as a separate case study by Takeda and Helms (2006b) to examine the bureaucratic emergency management system response model used in response to the effects of Hurricane Katrina in the South-central United States in 2004.

Takeda and Helms (2006a) and Takeda and Helms (2006b) findings suggested the bureaucratic management system model is not effective in operational contexts where the system is subject to a significant punctuated change, response efforts are overwhelmed, response execution times are constrained, and adaptability is critical for operational success. In both studies, the authors found the bureaucratic model was ineffective because of three primary determinants. First, Takeda and Helms (2006a, 2006b) suggested the bureaucratic system used had an over-reliance on decentralized knowledge exchange with centralized decision making. The decentralized knowledge exchange process requires numerous stakeholders to exchange information at functional levels before multi-level information can be provided to a centralized point for decision making (Takeda & Helms, 20006a; 2000b). This protracted decision-making process limits the system's ability to rapidly adapt to a dynamic environment (Takeda & Helms, 2006a, 200b). Takeda and Helms (2006b) cite decision making in Hurricane Katrina as an example where a slow bureaucratic system decision process took five days after the Louisiana governors accepted National Guard support from New Mexico before the federal government approved the request. Second, Takeda and Helms (2006a, 2006b) suggest the bureaucratic system promulgates flawed decision making because of the lack of consideration of external information.

In a bureaucracy, management exercises leadership based on the "socialization of system rules and procedures" (Takeda & Helms, 2006a, p.406). The leadership style

results in an organizational culture where acceptable follower behavior for problemsolving is based on the traditional approaches to problem-solving accepted by the system management (Takeda & Helms, 2006a, 2006b). External information influencing the situation is not considered in determining alternative solutions that limit adaptive behaviors. Takeda and Helms (2006b) cite the catastrophic tsunami impacting India, Sri Lanka, Thailand, and Indonesia as an example of a system that fails to accept external information and outside help. The bureaucratic system leadership faced with significant medical personnel and supply shortages needed for the tsunami victims refused to accept foreign aid. This refusal made it extremely difficult for aid works to support response efforts. Third, Takeda and Helms (2006a, 2006b) identify the leader and follower overcommitment to failed courses of action as contributing factors to response failure.

Takeda and Helms (2006a, 2006b) posit bureaucratic processes and procedures instills in organizational stakeholders a strong commitment to follow the designated course of action the systems management has deemed appropriate, even if the course of action is ineffective. Takeda and Helms (2006b) cite as an example during Hurricane Katrina President Bush's actions. President Bush, even as the hurricane was overwhelming the flood mitigation measures one day after landfall in New Orleans, continued to maintain his public schedule instead of changing his schedule to remain in Washington, D. C. to facilitate adjustments to response efforts that were not effective (Takeda & Helms, 2006b).

The study findings suggest cultural or national boundaries do not limit the deficiencies identified in the bureaucratic system. The studies conducted by Takeda and

Helms (2006a, 2006b) support the challenges of using the bureaucratic system approach in a catastrophic incident identified previously by researchers. In both studies, Takeda and Helms (2006a, 2006b) suggests that making the bureaucratic system more adaptable includes focusing on outcomes, not objectives, and incorporating informal structures into the response efforts.

Jovita and Nurmandi (2018), like Takeda and Helms, 2006a; 2006b, posit that bureaucratic processes limit effective response operations. Jovita and Nurmandi's (2018) article attributes successful organizational outcomes to emergency management leaders' ability to operationalize information within the supporting disaster management networks effectively. Jovita and Nurmandi (2018) posit a barrier to an emergency management leader's ability to exercise adaptive leadership is an organization's bureaucratic organizing structure. Jovita and Nurmandi (2018) identify this phenomenon as bureaucratic inertia. Jovita and Nurmandi (2018) define bureaucratic inertia as the inability of public institutions leadership to effectively respond to catastrophic incidents because of the limitations imposed by bureaucratic processes. Bureaucratic inertia suggests that the organizing structure of a bureaucracy facilitates a cultural behavior of risk and adaptive response avoidance because of the fear of violating established protocols within the organization (Jovita & Nurmandi, 2018). The limitations of the bureaucratic model identified by Takeda and Helms (2006a; 2006b) and bureaucratic inertia posited by Jovita and Nurmandi (2018) are supported by Jung et al. (2018), Jin, and Song (2017) and Tang et al. (2018) study findings.

Tang et al. (2018) examined intergovernmental and cross-sectoral collaboration during a significant incident in China. Tang et al. (2018) study's aim was to suggest possible improvements to the centralized political-administrative Chinese emergency management system, which governs the intergovernmental and cross-sectoral collaboration networks. Tang et al. (2018) conducted a case study using a mixed-method approach that consisted of an extensive document review including response plans, newspaper reports, situation reports, the official accident investigation report, along with eight interviews of key emergency management leaders involved in the Qingdao City, China oil pipeline explosion. Tang et al. (2018) suggests that governance structure influences emergency management network performance. Tang et al. (2018) study findings suggest the centralized political-administrative Chinese emergency management system needs to (a) integrate not-for-profit and private sector organizations into the emergency response structure, (b) increase levels of support of emergency management leaders responding at the local level, (c) balance the centralized emergency response system by including more adaptive structures, and (d) increase their degree of horizontal coordination and collaboration among emergency management functional groups.

The study findings suggest that although the centralized political-administrative Chinese emergency management system's hierarchical structure can facilitate intergovernmental and cross-sectoral collaboration, the structure's bureaucratic mechanisms also limit emergency management network effectiveness. As Tang et al. (2018) suggest, the system effectiveness is dependent on the appropriate blend of bureaucratic structures and emergent adaptive structures. Jung et al. (2018), in their study of the Sewol ferry sinking in South Korea, considered how the influence of bureaucratic and adaptive approaches influenced crisis management policy during initial response operations. In the study, Jung et al. (2018) used content and semantic network analysis by evaluating 187 documents associated with the government's emergency management approach to responding to the effects of the Sewol ferry sinking. The Jung et al. (2018) study findings suggested (a) based on the over-reliance of bureaucratic structures and decision making processes during the initial response operations, the South Korean emergency management system lacked the adaptability needed to deal with the fast-moving complex situation, (b) the hierarchical approach based on behaviors that instilled a requirement to follow detailed plans, failed to consider evolving requirements and adaptive approaches to the novel complex situations confronted, and (c) an adaptive approach to emergency response operations should always be considered in an emergency management system response.

Jin and Song (2017) examined the Sewol ferry sinking in South Korea from a bureaucratic accountability perspective to increase understanding of the systematic causes that limited the effectiveness of the Korean Coast Guard (KCG) response efforts. Jin and Song (2017) used a bureaucratic accountability framework in reviewing documents, reports, and surveying 280 members of the Korean Coast Guard. Jin and Song (2017) study findings suggest the organizational culture shaped by the bureaucratic organizing structure did not enable adaptive or discretionary actions by members of the KCG, adherence to rules and regulations was more critical than adapting to the challenges confronted by the sinking vessel, the KCG succumbed to political pressure by diverting resources to address maritime enforcement instead of having the requisite number of ships in the inland waterways for emergencies. Jin and Song's (2017) study suggests, as with other researchers, that the bureaucratic organizing structure can influence member behavior.

The culture within an organization based on a bureaucratic organizing structure can also be a limiting factor in organizational and member adaptability because of the influence of the culture on behaviors. (Jin & Song, 2017; Jung et al., 2018; Takeda & Helms, 2006a, 2006b). As Rivera, 2014 suggests, the leadership of emergency management bureaucratic structures should create a culture where management accepts innovation and adaptation to complex situations confronted. The Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA), one of the largest bureaucratic emergency management organizations, despite recommendations to increase efficiency and effectiveness by experts, has been perceived by the public in catastrophic incidents as lacking timeliness in achieving successful outcomes, especially in vulnerable communities (Rivera, 2014; Rivera & Landahl, 2019). The institutional bureaucratic processes dictate how FEMA will provide services during response operations and the network of organizations that must adhere to the processes because they rely on FEMA for funding and support (Rivera, 2014). An organizational culture that is resistant to change or adaptation based on employee or external recommendations can limit response effectiveness even though there is an outward appearance of change acceptance, as evidenced in the Rivera and Landahl (2019) study.

Rivera and Landahl's (2019) study examined contextual factors that influence public entrepreneurship in the Federal Emergency Management Agency. Rivera and Landahl (2019) examined employee perceptions of whether FEMA's organizing structure provided the necessary environment to facilitate acceptance of innovative solutions to enhance processes and procedures designed to achieve increased effectiveness in FEMA organizational outcomes. Innovation has been identified as positively influencing the effectiveness of response outcomes and community resilience after a disaster (Rivera and Landahl, 2019). The authors conducted a quantitative study with a sample size of 1,513 FEMA employees out of a possible sample population of 13,745.

Rivera and Landahl, 2019 study findings suggest that although FEMA is perceived by employees to accept innovation, in reality, there are boundaries imposed. However, Rivera and Landahl (2019) indicate the level of acceptance and implementation of innovative employee ideas is bounded by current regulations and processes established with the bureaucracy. Management acceptance of innovative ideas is, in most cases, not accepted outside of those boundaries (Rivera & Landahl, 2019). The authors identified an area of future research was to determine the gap between management tacit acceptance and the actual execution of innovative ideas proffered by employees. When an organizational culture limits innovation to the boundaries of the organization's bureaucratic processes, system adaptability will be limited, resulting in a less effective system in contexts where adaptation is critical for successful outcomes.

Bureaucratic organizing structures can also negatively influence stakeholder coordination within the system. Steigenberger (2016) suggested one of the challenges with disaster responses in the United States is interagency coordination. Steigenberger (2016) used a modified version of the 4C framework in conducting a systematic literature review of 80 empirical studies focusing on multi-agency response coordination to identify areas critical to successful response outcomes.

Steigenberger's (2016) analysis suggested (a) planning for smaller-scale incidents could rely on centralized structures with minimal interagency coordination, and the converse is true of larger-scale events, (b) effective plans identify stakeholder roles and responsibilities, (c) plans need to incorporate contingencies to address a dynamic disaster operating environment, and (d) the command and control structure should be as decentralized as required to mitigate the effects of an incident while incorporating as much centralization as possible. Steigenberger (2016) also found that centralized structures can be more challenging compared to decentralized structures when considering operational leadership, decision making, and information coordination. Steigenberger's (2016) research on the influence of bureaucratic structures is complemented by Denham and Baker (2019), who explore emergency management response to a catastrophic incident through a CAS lens.

Denham and Baker's (2019) study explored how the emergency management system at the county level responded to the overwhelming effects of Hurricane Harvey. Denham and Baker (2019) apply a CAS framework a conducted a qualitative study of response operations using an autoethnographic approach in Liberty and Harris counties, Texas, during Hurricane Harvey in 2017. The author's research approach included 100 hours of researcher field experience, 30 ad hoc and 40 structured interviews, 40 hours of observations at post-Hurricane Harvey panels, and a review of 7,700 response related documents. Denham and Baker's (2019) interviewee sample included emergency management leaders, first responders, civic leaders, non-governmental organizational members, civic leaders, victims, and volunteers. Denham and Baker (2019) defined the term unstrapping in the study as any action which was contrary to SOPs, defined operating processes, communication protocols, or other conditions limiting sensemaking.

Denham and Baker's (2019) findings suggested unstrapping occurred in three categories associated with adaptive behaviors (a) backchannel communications, (b) circumvention or modification of existing routines, and (c) violation or not adhering to established rules. The authors found backchannel communications happened primarily with emergency management leaders, circumvention among lower-level volunteers, and violation primarily among unaffiliated volunteers. Denham and Baker (2019) suggest that catastrophic events influence emergency management practitioners to achieve successful outcomes is to modify existing bureaucratic processes within a CAS environment.

In addition to the limitations of bureaucratic processes on the effectiveness of response organizations Rodríguez-Espíndola et al. (2018) provides an alternative consideration to challenges faced in bureaucratic organizing structures and systems performance. The authors identify misalignment of system processes and a contributing factor degrading system performance. Rodríguez-Espíndola et al. (2018) considered the influence of decision-making structure alignment on tactical operations and the influence each has on system performance. Rodríguez-Espíndola et al. (2018) posited that research is limited to the relationship between decision-making structures and tactical operations and how each may influence performance in a logistics context. Rodríguez-Espíndola et al. (2018) used a qualitative case study approach that consisted of emergency management personnel interviews and document review of information about the Villahermosa, Mexico floods in 2007. Rodríguez-Espíndola et al. (2018) found a misalignment between decision making structures and tactical operations in terms of information management, resource positioning, and distribution, and facility placement procedures led to ineffective system performance. Rodríguez-Espíndola et al. (2018) suggested that although many of the challenges with the centralized bureaucratic decision are inherent in the process, system processes misalignment also need to be considered.

Rodríguez-Espíndola et al. (2018) findings diverge from the traditional research focus on inherent bureaucratic, structural process deficiencies as a determinate of ineffective system performance and consider the misalignment's influence of system processes as a contributor. Rodríguez-Espíndola et al. (2018) suggest the emergency management system must consider process alignment among all stakeholders in developing an integrated framework for response operations.

A key driver of positive operational outcomes during catastrophic incidents is the emergency management leader's ability to exercise adaptive responses while balancing the need to control the situation. The literature has identified the barriers that a bureaucratic organizing structure can inadvertently establish to impede effective collaboration, coordination, response effectiveness, organizational adaptation, and the failure in many instances for the emergency manager to overcome these barriers. Understanding the emergency managers lived experience responding to a catastrophic incident could provide insight to mitigate these operational barriers in future responses.

Emergency Management Networks

Emergency management networks provide an alternative to bureaucratic response structures (Kapucu & Demiroz, 2017). Collaborative emergency management networks and bureaucratic organizing structures coexist in catastrophic incidents. In catastrophic incidents, emergency management networks are critical structures for successful response outcomes (Kapucu et al., 2010; Kapucu, & Garayev, 2013; Kapucu & Hu, 2016; Robinson et al., 2013). These networks are comprised of stakeholders from both the public and private sectors. As the complexity and scale of the incident increases, so does the number of participants and organizations within the emergency management networks (Abbasi & Kapucu, 2016; Parker, et al., 2020).

Emergency management networks are established to facilitate collaboration, coordination, and management of scarce resources (Abbasi & Kapucu, 2016; Kapucu & Hu, 2016; Kapucu et al., 2010), address incident complexity (Kapucu et al., 2010; Kapucu & Garayev, 2011; Parker et al., 2020), and facilitate inter-organizational synergies in managing scarce resources (Roberts et al., 2020). A network response approach increases the skill sets and capabilities that can be brought to bear to meet the challenges confronted in a catastrophic incident. The grouping of organizations into a network exponentially increases the capabilities when compared to anyone organization (Abbasi & Kapucu 2016). Interorganizational emergency management networks within the emergency management system operate based on previous stakeholder collaborations, relationship expectations, and stakeholder positioning within the network (Jung, et al., 2019).

Emergency management networks are not stagnated and adapt based on organizational structures, the operational environment, and the situation (Kapucu & Garayev, 2016; Parker et al., 2020). While many of the governance network member structures within the emergency management network are based on bureaucratic models, Newall et al. (2018), integrating a network approach is an attempt to mitigate some of the bureaucratic and coordination challenges associated with the emergency management system (Roberts et al., 2020).

Although a network approach to emergency response can be beneficial to response operations effectiveness during catastrophic incidents, network establishment can be difficult. Establishing and executing a network response to a catastrophic incident can be challenging (Gil-Garcia, et al., (2016). "Although building networks and maintaining them are highly desirable goals, they are often not easy to accomplish" (Kapucu & Demiroz, 2017, p. 39). Factors that Kapucu and Demiroz (2017) have identified as barriers to collaboration in establishing emergency management networks include (a) conflicts in the organizational culture of network members, i.e., organizational cultural acceptance of centralized decision making compared to a more decentralized process, (b) defined mission which is identified by network stakeholders, (c) network members do not have defined roles and responsibilities for their portion of the overall network mission, (d) power differentiation between organizations with positional power within the network that may result from size or capabilities may not be as inclusive with those with lesser capabilities, (e) lack of effective communications plans among network stakeholders, and (f) lack of facilitating factors that bring together network members into a cohesive group.

Emergency management leader behavior in bureaucratic organizing organizations can be accustomed to a preferred method of command and control compared to a more collaborative network approach. Emergency management leaders in bureaucratic organizing structures where leaders are based on formal authority direct personnel and allocate resources have a reluctance to get things done by persuading and building consensus with inter-organizational partners to execute a requirement they want to be completed (O'Toole, 2003). Establishing emergency management networks takes time to build relationships before the disaster to be effective (Jung et al., 2019). In bureaucratic organizational culture, emergency management leaders view their time better spent on internal relationships building and organizational requirements than fostering interorganizational relationships (Rivera, 2016).

To maximize the emergency management system's effectiveness, balancing the need for decentralized and bureaucratic structures can be a critical factor. An emergency management leader's ability to achieve equilibrium between the two structures can maximize the inherent advantages while enhancing the adaptability of the system. As Koliba et al. (2011), Kapucu and Garayev (2016), and Nowell et al. (2018) suggest, a blended organizational approach can increase emergency management system effectiveness.

Koliba et al. (2011), in examining accountability in governmental networks in the aftermath of Hurricane Katrina, concluded there needs to be a balance between bureaucratic and collaborative accountability structures when establishing emergency management networks. Koliba et al. (2011) posit a "mixed form" (p. 217) of network governance structure where bureaucratic processes facilitate organization and control, and collaborative structures designed to facilitate coordination. A balanced approach can mitigate some of the challenges identified by Kapucu and Demiroz (2017) with the bureaucratic governance processes and increase adaptability with more collaborative governance approaches. Each of the following studies considers the effects of a balanced approach in an emergency management context.

Kapucu and Garayev (2016) study considered the relationship between horizontal and vertical structural networks and the influence of these differences on expected network performance. Kapucu and Garayev (2016) examined the impact of Emergency Support Functions (ESF) and Incident Command System (ICS) as governance structures within the formal response, informal preparedness, and friendship networks as they relate to coordination and collaboration of response operations. Kapucu and Garayev's (2016) quantitative study considered how the response structure of two Florida counties, Orange County, organizes their Emergency Operations Center (EOC) by ESF, a horizontally integrated Duval County that organizes their EOC under ICS, a more hierarchical structure.

Kapucu and Garayev's (2016) study findings suggested an ESF governance structure based on the inherent flexibility can be more suitable for those operational characteristics associated with a catastrophic disaster. Kapucu and Garayev (2016) make a distinction in critical emergency management network coordination and collaboration requirements. Kapucu and Garayev (2016) inferred based on the study findings that counties with limited resources may be better suited to use an ESF-based system for collaboration, and counties requiring coordination ICS may be more effective.

A limitation of the study noted by Kapucu and Garayev (2016) is the networks compared were non-paired. Coordination and collaboration are critical aspects of effective response operations. Emergency management leader's understanding of structural organizing influence on coordination and cooperation is vital in facilitating adaptive responses during catastrophic incidents (Waugh & Streib, 2006).

Nowell et al. (2018) suggested one of the challenges during a complex catastrophic incident is how to effectively balance the requirement for centralized coordination of hierarchical, bureaucratic structures and adaptability to adjust to a dynamic operational environment. Using a wildfire context Nowell et al. (2018) attempted to theorize the most striking characteristics of network structures in catastrophic incidents. Nowell et al. (2018) suggest catastrophic incidents have both the requirement for the integration of centralized and emergent coordination structures and the ability to bring in other stakeholders into the response network. Nowell et al. (2018) posited a modified core-periphery structure that could meet this requirement's needs and increase the network's effectiveness. Nowell et al. (2018) conducted a qualitative study with a sample size of 25 Type 1 Incident Commanders who operate at the tactical level during response operations.

Nowell et al. (2018) suggest that network structures' characteristics should consider a modified core-periphery operational structure compared to an integrated or centralized structure. A modified core-periphery model that includes several members of a core group, with a bureaucratic incident command governance structure acting as brokers who facilitate coordination between the core and the periphery, a more decentralized structural group characterized by members with functional expertise (Nowell et al., 2018). In the modified core-periphery model during an incident, peripheral members have significant interaction with each other separate from the core, which adds to the model's resiliency in the event of the core failure (Nowell et al., 2018). The core governance structure is centralized while the external peripheral members adapt to a more decentralized governance structure.

Having defined processes that are flexible for completing tasks among network members is also critical for network effectiveness. Andrew et al. (2018) study examined the use of SOPs and crisis communications during the initial response to the 2014 Ebola crisis. Andrew et al. (2018) conducted both online and face to face surveys with a sample size of 52 emergency management coordinators in the Dallas, Fort Worth metropolitan region of Texas for their qualitative study. Andrew et al. (2018) findings suggest the structure provided by SOPs is valuable in providing a baseline for moving forward in dynamic, uncertain, and complex operating environments. Emergency management leaders need to balance the structure of the SOPs offers and the need to adapt the SOPs based on the challenges confronted by the disaster (Andrew et al., 2018). Gil-Garcia et al. (2016) explored the response structure to the World Trade Center terrorist attack and factors that facilitate effective management of a catastrophic incident from a bureaucratic and a network perspective. The authors used a mixed-method research methodology to conduct 29 semi-structured interviews and completed first responders' sociometric surveys. Gil-Garcia et al. (2016) study findings suggest that a network-centric response is not completely devoid of bureaucratic organizing structures, especially in leadership and resource allocation. Gil-Garcia et al. (2016) indicated that the response was comprised of both bureaucratic and network organizing structures, at the operational level network-centric, and at the political level was more characteristic of a bureaucratic structure. Gil-Garcia et al. (2016) identified a bureaucratic structure limitation was the ability to adapt initially to a disruption in the system caused by the attack.

Gil-Garcia et al. (2016) suggest the study finding supports (a) hybrid model that integrates both organizing structures, (b) having a network structure as a component of a bureaucratic hierarchy as considered in the Rethemeyer and Hatmaker (2008) study, and supports the position posited by Koliba et al. (2011) of a mixed form of network governance can increase network effectiveness.

Emergency management leaders should consider response structures that are most appropriate to a catastrophic incident during a response and develop plans designed to achieve required outcomes (Cairns, 2017). A catastrophic incident brings together a myriad of emergency management structural types. Emergency management leaders need to understand the role bureaucratic and more decentralized network structures play in the emergency management system to build a collaborative and adaptive response design not solely dependent on bureaucratic structures. Leadership is a critical component in shaping the system.

Leadership in a Catastrophic Incident

In catastrophic incidents, leadership has a significant effect on organizational outcomes (Madanchian et al., 2017). An adaptable leadership behavior tailored to the situation can influence successful response outcomes (Peus et al., 2013). Many catastrophic incident's leadership failures have resulted in adverse response outcomes. Leadership failures contributed to ineffective response outcomes in Hurricane Katrina (Kapucu & Van Wart, Menzel, 2006; 2008; Moynihan, 2012; Takeda & Helms, (2006b), Hurricane Maria (Farber, 2018) Sewol ferry sinking in South Korea, (Jung et al., 2018).

An essential function of emergency management leaders is their ability to deal with crises effectively. Emergency management leaders need to understand the competencies necessary to execute response operations effectively during a crisis or obtain this understanding through training. As McDaniel (2007) suggests, leaders should adopt a systems way of thinking and not view organizations linearly, and increase their leadership emphasis on sense-making, learning, and improvisation. Emergency management leaders need to be innovative and not bound by traditional ways of responding to incidents and ridged plans. They must view the response to a catastrophic incident from a new perspective where consideration of emergent challenges during uncertainty through stakeholder is the norm (Ansell et al., 2020). An emergency management leader's understanding of the influence of context on leadership behavior, organizational structure, and leadership influence on system performance are also critical requirements identified in the following study findings.

As Van Wart and Kapucu (2011) suggest, there is a distinction between leadership in a catastrophic incident and routine operations. Van Wart and Kapucu's (2011) study reviewed what leadership competencies are required by emergency management leaders primarily during the response phase of a catastrophic incident. Van Wart and Kapucu (2011) used a quantitative research methodology to survey 17 emergency managers who have responded to natural disasters and extreme events. Van Wart and Kapucu (2011) study findings suggest in a catastrophic incident, emergency managers should (a) display a calm demeanor while demonstrating definitive leadership, adaptive and not bureaucratic, (b) leaders need to be able to make decisions in a timeconstrained operating environment, (c) leaders need to maintain routine coordination of duties. Van Wart and Kapucu (2011) research suggested that the leadership competencies for routine disasters and catastrophic incidents, although similar, because of the significant disruption to societal systems in catastrophic incidents, adaptive responses by emergency management leaders are critical.

Van Wart and Kapucu (2011) identified the sample size as a limitation and identified a challenge to get senior emergency managers with the requisite experience to respond. Van Wart and Kapucu's (2011) study reinforces the influence context of a situation has on the effectiveness of leadership behavior that emergency management leaders need to consider.

In addition to context, the level of incident complexity and operating environment dynamics influences leadership's need to exercise adaptive responses. Geir (2016) investigated if emergency management leaders adapted their leadership style between normal and extreme events in a firefighting context and if the selected leadership style influences follower performance in routine and extreme contexts. Geir (2016) conducted a quantitative study with a convivence sample size of 171 participants broken down by 87 leaders and 84 followers from three fire departments in the Southeastern United States and the remaining five located across the United States.

Geir's (2016) findings indicated transactional leadership and not transformational and passive-avoidance leadership was the dominant leadership style influencing follower performance positively in an extreme context. In normal routine operations, transformational leadership has a positive influence on follower performance. Geir's (2016) study, although focused on emergency management leaders in a fire fighting domain, highlights the need for a leader in adapting from normal routine operations to the challenges confronted in a catastrophic incident.

As Geir's (2016) study findings identify the context of the situation changes the type of leadership needed, so does the situation complexity level. Johannessen (2017) explored organizational complexity during extreme contexts, focusing on increasing understanding of how strategies and leadership development during a crisis to achieve successful operational outcomes through a complexity theory lens.

Johannessen (2017) developed a theoretical framework founded in complexity theory that suggested that the interaction between functional, bureaucratic, and political structures before, while the response is ongoing and after an incident, influences operational strategies and leadership styles. The author conducted two qualitative case studies comprised of reviewing media and public documents and interviews. In Johannessen's (2017) first case study, 20 individuals associated with the police operation in response to the mass shooting on the island of Utoya, Norway, were interviewed. In the second case study, Johannessen (2017) interviewed 15 Norwegian Air Force officers involved in the Royal Norwegian Air Force's response to the Libyan crisis of 2011. Johannessen (2017) found that in both cases, the bureaucracy collapsed; in the mass shooting on the island of Utoya, police leaders followed a bureaucratic response focused on rules and hierarchal reporting structure, which limited their ability to adapt to the situation. In the Libyan response case study, strategic leaders bypassed the military bureaucracy's operational level and went right to the tactical level to exchange information.

Johannessen's (2017) findings suggest (a) bureaucratic structures responding to significant incidents operate in a time-constrained decision-making environment, resulting in the need for leaders to improvise and adapt their behavior to enable organizational adaptation to meet the challenges confronted in the time-compressed environment, and (b) leaders need to adjust their behavior to the context of the situation.

Kapucu and Ustun's (2018) study discussed the relationship between leadership competencies and effective crisis management in the public sector. Kapucu and Ustun (2018) conducted quantitative research using structural equation modeling (SEM) with a sample size of 301 public administrators. The latter had a crisis leadership role dealing with human-caused and natural disasters in Turkey.

Kapucu and Ustun (2018) identified 12 variables to be considered within the following categories, (a) traits and skills; decisiveness flexibility, and communication, (b) task-oriented behaviors; problem-solving and managing innovation and creativity, (c) people-oriented behaviors; team building, planning, and organizing personnel, and motivating, (d) organizational oriented behaviors; networking and partnering, decision making, scanning the environment, and strategic planning. Kapucu and Ustun's (2018) study findings identified a positive relationship between core leadership competencies (traits, skills, and behaviors) and effective crisis management. The study findings also suggest that training on leadership competencies among emergency management leaders could better prepare them for the future crisis they will be expected to mitigate.

Leadership in a catastrophic incident is a critical component of success. The literature identifies the positive influence that emergency management leaders have on achieving operational objectives. As the complexity and uncertainty characteristic of catastrophic incidents grows, so does the need for effective leadership to bring together all stakeholders for an effective response. The emergency management leader's ability to understand how to exercise leadership in catastrophic incidents is critical for successfully restoring societal systems and returning to the new normal.

Summary and Conclusions

The effects on societal systems from a catastrophic incident are devastating. The uncertainty, complexity, and dynamic operating environment in comparison to routine emergencies increases the need and criticality of effective leadership. The emergency management system is a Complex Adaptive System influenced by emergency management leaders. The emergency management system responding to a catastrophic incident comprises bureaucratic and more adaptive emergency management governance structures. To solve the complex challenges associated with a catastrophic incident, the emergency management ecosystem needs to adapt to meet the novel challenges confronted. Bureaucratic structures in a catastrophic incident operational environment limit adaptive response, timely decision making, and cross-sector stakeholder coordination and collaboration. The literature supports the need for adaptive responses by emergency management leaders, and the negative influence bureaucratic structures can have on response operations. The literature gap identified in this review is the emergency management leader's understanding of how to effectively adapt the bureaucratic structures within the emergency management system by managing conflict between organizational structure and the ability to adapt to novel situations confronted. Emergency management leader development training may be able to assist with increasing the level of understanding. The findings suggest a research gap this study can fill by exploring the lived experiences of emergency management leaders' understanding of how to execute adaptive responses needed to adapt bureaucratic organizing structures during a catastrophic incident.

Chapter 2 included an introduction, an explanation of the conceptual framework used for the study, a detailed review of the literature associated with the influence of bureaucratic structures on emergency leader adaptive responses, and a summary. Chapter 3 will discuss the research design and rationale, the researcher's role, methodology, participant selection logic, instrumentation, procedures for recruitment, participation, and data collection, data analysis plan, and issues of trustworthiness.

Chapter 3: Research Method

An emergency management leader's ability to exercise adaptive responses is essential for successful response outcomes during a catastrophic incident (Kapucu & Garayev, 2016). The literature review identified the negative influence that bureaucratic structures can have on an emergency management leader's ability to exercise adaptive responses during a catastrophic incident. The purpose of this study was to explore the lived experiences of emergency management leaders exercising leadership in bureaucratic structures in a catastrophic incident context. By understanding the emergency management leaders' interpretation of the influence of bureaucratic structures on their ability to exercise adaptive responses, the study findings could facilitate learning models to mitigate the influence of the bureaucratic structures in the future. A phenomenological research approach was used in this study because the method is suitable to explore the lived experiences of emergency management leaders in the context of a catastrophic incident (Alase, 2017; Moran, 2002; Matua & Van Der Wal, 2015; Sokolowski, 2000). Within the phenomenological tradition, IPA provided a mechanism to understand how individuals interpret their experience confronting challenges within a specific context (Noon, 2018; Smith et al., 2009), making it suitable to explore the study phenomena.

Although IPA was initially closely aligned with psychological research, the approach has become increasingly popular among researchers in the cognitive sciences and beyond (Peat et al., 2019; Smith, 2017; Smith et al., 2009). IPA continues to gain popularity with researchers exploring the lived experiences of individuals in relation to
their environment. The IPA approach has become a preferred method of phenomena exploration among qualitative researchers (Tuffour, 2017). IPA is suitable for exploring phenomena with a high degree of complexity and in situations where a participant's state of mind is influenced by the context of their situation (Peat et al., 2019). Compared to other qualitative approaches, an IPA approach provides the researcher with procedural flexibility and detailed participant focus designed to uncover the participant's interpretation of their lived experience in a specific context (Alase, 2017; Larkin et al., 2019.)

An IPA approach can explore previously researched or novel phenomena (Miller et al., 2018). A primary researcher's objective for using an IPA approach is to understand individuals making sense of their experience in a specific context (Alase, 2017; Noon, 2018). An IPA approach was chosen based on its suitably for research in an emergency management domain when considering the influence of bureaucratic structures on leader adaptability to gain an understanding of the interpretation of leader's lived experience in the context of a catastrophic incident. Chapter 3 describes the research design and rationale, the researcher's role, methodology, participant selection logic, instrumentation, procedures for recruitment, participation, and data collection, data analysis plan, and issues of trustworthiness.

Research Design and Rationale

The specific phenomenon to be explored was the influence of bureaucratic structures on emergency management leader's ability to exercise adaptive responses in the context of a catastrophic incident. To explore the lived experiences of emergency management leaders operating in a bureaucratic structure's ability to exercise adaptive responses during complex catastrophic incidents, a qualitative IPA was used.

The research question addressing the specific concern of this study are:

RQ1: What are the lived experiences of emergency management leaders in catastrophic disasters given the bureaucratic organizational structures in which they operate?

RQ2: How do emergency management leaders find equilibrium between bureaucratic organizing processes and the need for adaptive responses in catastrophic incidents?

RQ3: How does member behavior in bureaucratic structures influence emergency management leader decision making?

Qualitative research is applicable for research when the study focuses on increasing understanding of a phenomenon (Aspers & Corte, 2019; Byrne, 2001). Qualitative research allows the researcher to explore and increase their understanding of a phenomenon through the study participant's individual experiences within a given context (Dodgson, 2019; Pathak et al., 2013). Qualitative research is suitable for this study because I aimed to increase understanding of the phenomena through exploration.

Each of the five qualitative research approaches, narrative, phenomenology, ethnography, case study, and grounded theory, were considered for the study. A narrative approach was rejected because the study's aim was not to develop a descriptive account or story of emergency management leaders' experiences but to understand their interpretation of their experience related to a phenomenon. An ethnography was not suitable for the study because the ethnographical research approach is focused on the study of cultural groups based on researcher observations of the study participants in their natural setting, which was not the aim of the study. A case study approach was rejected because the study's intent was not to be limited by an analysis specific to a catastrophic incident but to understand emergency management leaders' lived experiences related to a catastrophic incident. A grounded theory qualitative approach was rejected because the study's intent is not to develop a new theory. A phenomenological approach was selected because it is most aligned with the study's aim to understand emergency management leaders' lived experiences relating to a specific context.

A phenomenological research approach allows the researcher to understand individuals shared experiences of a phenomenon within a given context (Creswell et al., 2007; Heotis, 2020). In comparison to positivism or quantitative approach, a phenomenological research tradition considers the individual's reality as they interact with their environment (Reiners, 2012). The study's IPA approach will focus on how the emergency management leader understands and interprets the meaning of bureaucratic structure's influence on their ability to exercise adaptive responses in the context of a catastrophic incident.

As Brocki and Wearden (2006) suggest, IPA's purpose is to interpret individual experiences in the context of a specific event. IPA differs from descriptive phenomenological methodology because IPAs focus is on interpreting the meaning of the lived experience, as expressed by the study participant in the hermeneutic tradition (Laverty, 2003; O'Halloran et al., 2018). An IPA research approach is guided by three philosophical underpinnings, phenomenology, hermeneutics, and ideography (Engward & Goldspink, 2020; Noon, 2018; Peat et al., 2019; Smith et al., 2009). First, phenomenology provides the basis for understanding the individual experience as it relates to their environment, given a specific context. Second, hermeneutics finds understanding through an interpretation of the experience in IPA. Finally, ideography informs IPA through the detailed interpretation of the individual's understanding of their experience before continued analysis of another's experience in a similar context.

IPA is an appropriate research approach when the research aim is to interpret the lived experience of individuals based on the participant's interpretation of the phenomena in a given context (Paterson & Higgs, 2005; Smith et al., 2009), and the topic has a high degree of complexity (Smith & Osborn, 2015). "IPA is committed to the systematic exploration of personal experience" (Tomkins, 2017, p. 37). The research approach I have selected is a qualitative phenomenological approach in the IPA tradition because (a) it supports the exploration of the lived experiences of emergency management leaders, (b) is suitable for the catastrophic incident with a high degree of complexity, and (c) allows consideration of the influence of my extensive experience in the field of emergency management without biasing the study findings. Using an IPA approach, my goal was to gain a detailed understanding of the emergency management leader's interpretation of the bureaucratic organizational structural influence on their ability to exercise adaptive responses during a catastrophic incident.

A conceptual framework informed by a CLT reflexivity was used in combination with IPA. A CLT reflexivity was used to examine the inherent conflict between the bureaucratic, structural processes, designed to bring control in an uncertain environment, and the need for emergency leaders exercising leadership in catastrophic incidents for adaptive responses. A CLT lens facilitated reflection on the researcher's position as an experienced military emergency management leader interpreting civilian study participants' lived experiences managing conflict between a much broader spectrum of stakeholders. The use of CLT lens and IPA increased understanding of the study participant's operational environment complexity in a catastrophic incident by considering the additional factors identified above in interpreting their experiences.

Role of the Researcher

The researcher's role is to explore and interpret the phenomena based on the lived experiences of the study participants (Alase, 2017). As a researcher using an IPA approach, the objective is "trying to make sense of the participant trying to make sense of their own experience in the interview" (Smith & Osborn, 2008, p 53). Using this double hermeneutic approach, the researcher uses an IPA approach to participate in interpreting the individual making sense of phenomena (Love et al., 2020). I explored the study topic while recognizing any personal biases associated with the study participant representations of their lived experiences. Bracketing was used to ensure the participant's interpretation of their experiences does not include any researcher bias. A three-step process was used to incorporate an effective bracketing strategy. First, reflexivity was included throughout the research process to address researcher bias (Chan et al., 2013). Second, during the data collection phase, I asked open-ended and clarifying questions throughout the interview and not steer the research participant to a specific conclusion (Chan et al., 2013). Third, after the initial interpretation of the respondent's experience during the data analysis phase, as Chan et al. (2013) suggest, I l provided the participant with a manuscript to review and confirm their lived experiences to ensure it has been accurately interpreted. As Smith et al. (1999) suggest, all themes identified in the interview transcripts should be confirmed by interviewee recordings and not representative of researcher interpretations.

I have worked in the emergency management field for the last 20 years in a military context primarily. I will not have any personal relationships with the study participants. I will continuously evaluate any possible conflicts of interest and immediately address them.

Methodology

Participant Selection Logic

As indicated in the subsequent section on procedures for study participant recruitment, participation, and data collection, I followed the three-step process identified by MacDougall and Fudge (2001). The study participants criterion will be civilian emergency management leaders in the Southeastern United States who have supported or experienced a catastrophic incident within the last five years.

The homogenous sample population selected provided participants who can interpret their lived experiences exercising leadership in bureaucratic structures during a catastrophic incident essential to the study. As Smith (2019) suggests in IPA, data is derived from a homogenous purposive sample. A homogenous sample population was selected because when conducting IPA research, the selection of study participants who have similar experiences will provide "a better gauge and a better understanding of the overall perceptions among the participants" (Alase, 2017, p.13). Verification that prospective study participants meet the criterion was completed through confirmation during the participant selection process, a review of public information available in governmental agency websites, and public media reports on the specific catastrophic incident referenced by the study participant. A purposive sampling strategy was used consisting of between 10 and 15 interviews or until saturation occurs. Smith et al. (2009) suggest that because IPA's emphasis is on a specific individual experience within a given context, a purposeful sampling strategy is more suitable than other non-homogeneous strategies. A purposeful sampling strategy was selected because purposeful sampling allows the researcher to identify those participants with in-depth lived experiences on the phenomena being studied (Suri, 2011).

Qualitative research scholars have posited a determinant of sample size is based on the practical, epistemological, and methodological underpinnings of a study, not a defined number (Baker & Edwards, 2012). Smith et al. suggest "sampling must be theoretically consistent with the qualitative paradigm in general, and with IPA's orientation in particular" (p.48). IPA research studies are usually based on small sample sizes because of the idiographic approach required (Allan & Eatough, 2016; Dos Santos, 2020; Noon, 2018; Peat et al., 2019; Pietkiewicz & Smith, 2014; Smith et al., 2009). Smith et al. (2009) suggest between three and six participants can be an acceptable sample size for traditional IPA studies. Saturation in the IPA tradition can refer to when the researcher has achieved a deep understanding of the study participants' lived experience within a given context and, as Smith et al. (2009) suggest, the researcher's understanding of meaningful areas of participant convergence and divergence of experience. The range of participant interviews will be in accordance with the number needed to achieve saturation (Manson, 2010; Hennink et al., 2017). Although there are varying researcher opinions on the amount of data required to achieve saturation, most researchers agree that saturation occurs after determining that "no new data, no new themes, no new coding and ability to replicate the study" (Guest et al., 2006; Fusch & Ness, 2015, p.1409), is achieved.

Instrumentation

The primary data collection instrument is the researcher developed interview guide identifying the interview protocol and open-ended interview questions wherein participants will be given the opportunity to share their lived experiences (Appendix A). A semi-structured interview, typically used in IPA (Peat, 2019), is the type of interview used for the study. A semi-structured interview can elicit from the study participant an in-depth, detailed, and rich interpretation of their lived experience, allowing increased understanding by the researcher (Whiting, 2008). Multiple follow-up questions have been developed to ensure all available data to increase researcher understanding of the participant's interpretation of the phenomena is captured.

The interview guide was designed based on the literature review and study research questions. An interview guide provides the researcher with a mechanism to move from listening to the participant to eliciting additional information detailed enough to achieve understanding (Brod et al., 2009). Instrument validity is an essential component of a study. Content validity in instrumentation refers to the instrument interview questions' ability to capture the essence of the phenomena based on the lived experience of the study participant (Patrick et al., 2011). As Brod et al. (2009) suggest, one of the most important ways to increase qualitative study validity is to have one on one interaction with study participants detailing their experience of the phenomena. This one on one interaction was completed through researcher executed interviews that were not rushed, detailed oriented, and consider an inter-subjective reflective process. Peat et al. (2019) suggests the researcher during the IPA process "draws on an inter-subjective" (p. 8) reflective process that emphasizes thoughtful consideration of the interpersonal dynamic of both the researcher and the study participant in achieving a rich understanding of the individuals' lived experiences. Content validity of the interview guide was achieved through the dissertation committee chairperson expert review.

Emergency management agency publicly available information relating to operational plans and processes, along with public media reports specific to the governmental agency and catastrophic incident, will also be reviewed. These documents included After Action Reports (AAR) on the specific catastrophic incident associated with the emergency management leader to be interviewed. Governmental and regulatory AAR's provided additional context on the study topic that can increase understanding of the effects of the incident on societal systems and challenges confronted by emergency management leaders. Because the AARs are, in most cases, written by organizations who are responsible for the response, the potential bias of the data needed to be considered during the review. Comprehensive Emergency Management Plans (CEMP), also available on agency websites, provided a comprehensive breakdown of the processes and procedures on how an agency will respond to a catastrophic incident. Emergency management agency websites will be reviewed for relevant documentation relating to the specific catastrophic incident. Publicly available media reporting specific to the catastrophic incident and agency was also be reviewed to provide additional context and understanding of agency response efforts and incident magnitude. All relevant documents were downloaded and categorized based on the interviewee and catastrophic incident.

In accordance with an interview guide, all interviews were recorded and transcribed using NVivo Release 1 (MAC). All data files from the interviews were password-protected files on my computer. Additionally, audio and transcriptions will be backed up in an encrypted file on a remote drive. All study participants have received a synopsis of major themes and findings after the study has been completed.

Procedures for Recruitment, Participation, and Data Collection

After the study was approved by the Institutional Review Board (IRB) # 03-01-21-0579334, I followed a three-step process identified by MacDougall and Fudge (2001). MacDougall and Fudge (2001) suggests a three-step iterative process to effectively achieve the requisite number and quality of interviewees for a study. First, in the preparation stage, key emergency management leaders and networks in the Southeastern United States who have been involved in or supported a catastrophic incident in the last 5 years that can participate in the study and act as champions to garner the support of other prospective interviewees will be identified (MacDougall & Fudge, 2001). Second, key emergency management leaders and personnel identified in the emergency management networks will be solicited telephonically, in person, or through the use of a study champion. During this engagement, I provided each prospective participant (a) a study fact sheet outlining the purpose of the study, including an informed consent form, (b) initial and follow-up interview requirements, and (c) the benefits of the research to the emergency management after the interview, an email will be provided to the study participant with a general overview of the study findings and the themes identified (MacDougall & Fudge, 2001).

Data collection methods included interviews, governmental agency publicly available catastrophic incident-specific documents, and public media reports. Interviews provide the degree of rich data needed for an IPA approach (Smith et al., 2009). Using the research questions as a guide, the interview's objective is to elicit an interpretation by the study participant to understand their lived experience (Smith et al., 2009). The interview guide (Appendix A) provides an outline of the interview protocols and questions. Each study participant interview lasted approximately one hour. The interview was recorded using Microsoft Teams. Follow up interviews were conducted as required for select study participants.

Governmental agency catastrophic incident-specific documents included information on agency websites related to response operations and emergency management leaders associated with catastrophic incidents. This included AARs and situation reports that were publicly available. These documents provided additional context and understanding of the agency bureaucratic processes associated with the emergency management leader's interpretation of their lived experiences. Public media reports facilitated an increased understanding of the catastrophic incident's effects on the societal systems that the emergency management leader was confronted with supporting the restoration of, and agency response outcomes.

Data Analysis Plan

The study interview questions were designed to obtain detailed descriptions of the study participant's lived experiences specific to the research questions. After the interview transcription, the document was sent to the interviewee for member checking. To analyze the data from the transcription, I followed the six-step iterative process outlined by Smith et al. (2009) for IPA. The six-step iterative process outlined by Smith et al. (2009) is the common process used for IPA research (Miller et al., 2018). Although Smith et al. (2009) provide a detailed IPA process that provides a detailed framework for the IPA researcher, the authors emphasize that their approach is not prescriptive. A researcher can be innovative to adjust any phase of the process while adhering to the process intent.

The IPA process's initial step focused on "immersing oneself in the original data" (Smith et al., 2009, p. 82). In this stage of the process, interview transcripts will re-read multiple times, with audio recordings listened to simultaneously. The researcher's objective in this step is to understand the study participant's interpretation of their lived experiences from the interviewee's perspective by becoming immersed in the data. A

comprehensive, detailed analysis of a single interview transcript will be completed before moving to the next (Peat et al., 2019).

In step two, a detailed analysis of the transcript took place. A reflective journal housed within the software package was used to analyze transcripts, NVivo Revision 1 (MAC), was used for notetaking. Vicary et al. (2017) suggests the data analysis technique of integrating a reflective journal inside a data analysis software increases the validity and quality of the IPA. The combination of the two processes provides (a) elements of an audit trail through annotation of transcripts, (b) a visual representation of bracketing, and (c) transparency as to the steps used in the data analysis (Vicary et al., 2017). NVivo Revision 1 (MAC) did not replace the researcher requirement to analyze the data (Smith et al., 2009), but facilitated the management of data coding and establishment of coding trees in transcripts (Wagstaff et al., 2014). The reflective journal allowed for adherence to the hermeneutic tradition by annotating interpretations of the transcripts' parts in relation to the whole of the participant's interpretations. This reflective process was followed throughout the analysis process. The use of a reflective journal within the software package was dynamic, simultaneously enabling the process of moving from description to interpretation and development of the hermeneutic and later double hermeneutics, essential to IPA, and the assurance of its quality and validity" (Vicary et al., 2017, p. 557). This step's end state was to identify a series of descriptive, linguistic, and conceptual exploratory comments with the goal of an explicit understanding of the emergency management leader's interpretation of their lived

experience (Smith et al., 2009). This detailed analysis resulting from this step provided the foundation for step three, developing emergent themes.

In step three, emergent themes were developed from the exploratory notes developed from the previous step. Smith et al. (2009) suggest during the development of emergent themes, the study participants original perspectives of the lived experiences are interpreted by the researcher using a hermeneutic framework. After the chronological documentation of emergent themes based on individual study participant transcripts, I began connecting concepts across themes.

The study research questions were used as a guide for evaluating the most relevant emergent themes. As Smith et al. (2009) suggest, mapping themes to ascertain how each theme may fit together to understand the study's most critical components. Themes were be evaluated in chronological order into clusters. The completion of step four identified the most informative and critical components of the study participant's interpretation of their lived experience (Smith et al., 2009).

Each study participant transcripts were analyzed using the same irritative process based on their own merits. Miller et al. (2018) suggest the researcher in IPA must complete a thorough analysis of each case before moving on to the next. As the evaluation of the next transcript begins, it is important to bracket the information developed in the previous transcripts from influencing the evaluation (Smith et al., 2009). In completing this step, it was essential to maintain a level of self-awareness of my previously learned concepts in the analysis process and evaluate each transcript unbiasedly. The final step in the process evaluates thematic patterns across all of the participant transcripts were analyzed. I established a master table of themes considering each of the transcript analysis. Superordinate and subthemes were identified and ordered by comparing each of the transcripts

Data identified in Recruitment, Participation, and Data Collection phase from agency websites and public media reports were downloaded and categorized by a catastrophic incident. The data was compared to individual transcripts during and after transcript evaluation to support triangulation. No discrepant cases were identified.

Issues of Trustworthiness

Credibility

Sandelowski (1986) suggests that credibility in qualitative research is achieved when there is a shared understanding of the lived experience among individuals. Cope (2014) indicates the researcher needs to "demonstrate engagement, methods of observation, and audit trails" (p.89) to facilitate credibility in research. Therefore, I used strategies to ensure credibility, including reflexivity, prolonged engagement, and member checking. To minimize inherent researcher bias, I maintained a reflexive journal throughout the research process. The journal allowed me to reflect on my learning experiences as I work through research stages (Cope, 2014). A reflective journal enables the researcher to maintain a level of self-awareness and experience acknowledgment of the relationship between researcher feelings and their influence on the interpretation of the phenomena (Ortlipp, 2008). Developing a rapport based on mutual trust between the researcher and study participant is critical for prolonged engagement (Cope, 2014). To build a rapport based on trust, (a) interviews will not be rushed, (b) in-depth responses will be solicited from study participants, (c) and I will restate the responses from the interviewees to confirm my understanding of the experience stated, and (d) in the data analysis phase interviewee's responses will be restated to confirm the accuracy of my interpretations of the data (Cope, 2014).

Transferability

Transferability in qualitative research is the extent to which the study findings apply to other contexts (Byrne, 2001; Houghton et al., 2013; Connelly, 2016). The role of the researcher is to provide a "thick description of the participants and the research process, to enable the reader to assess whether your findings are transferable to their own setting" (Korstjens & Moser, 2017, p.122). To establish transferability, a detailed description of the phenomena, context, research methods, and study boundaries was articulated to the reader in such detail as to allow understanding of the possible applicability to various situations. To achieve sufficient thick descriptions of the study phenomena, interviewees were asked open-ended questions, follow-up questions, and member checking will be used to elicit an understanding of the study participant's unique lived experiences (Amankwaa, 2016). This robust and pragmatic researcher interaction resulted in a more detailed understanding of the phenomena from the participant's perspective. As Amankwaa (2016) suggests, the researcher's objective is to describe the research process and phenomena in such detail as to affect the reader profoundly.

Dependability

Qualitative research's dependability is based on similar study findings by another researcher using a similar context and study participants (Shenton, 2004; Cope, 2014). The strategy used to ensure dependability included a reflexive journal consisted of an audit of the process followed throughout the study. As Shenton (2004) suggests, (a) documentation and detailed explanation of the implementations of the research design, (b) a detailed explanation of field research and data obtained, and (c) a critical reflective evaluation of the study can facilitate establishing dependability. Identification of the research steps followed in an audit trail provided sufficient transparency and understanding of the process followed to support the relationship between the study findings and the participant's lived experiences (Korstjens & Moser, 2017).

Confirmability

Confirmability of the study is a critical component of trustworthiness that ensures researcher bias is not represented in the study findings. A reflexivity strategy was used in addressing the need for confirmability. A reflexive journal was used throughout the research process, clearly articulating my thoughts, perceptions, and focus on bias minimization. In addition, as Guba (1981) suggests, triangulation minimizes researcher bias and facilitates study confirmability. Therefore, a minimum of two sources of data was used to document each study's findings.

Ethical Procedures

Ensuring the required ethical standards were considered throughout the research process. Before beginning the research process, an Institutional Review Board (IRB)

application was submitted to Walden University for approval. The response from the IRB based on my submission of Form A indicated, "Since you seem to be proposing a straightforward study involving non-vulnerable participants and non-sensitive data collection, you will be going through Walden's expedited IRB process" (B. Saunders, personal communications, July 27, 2020). The final submission of IRB documents was completed, and IRB approval was granted.

For recruitment and participant selection, I executed the following process. First, I completed a participant risk assessment to determine if any of the study participants would be subject to "potential adverse effects, risks or hazards" based on their involvement in the study (Walker, 2007, p. 39). No study participants were identified. Second, the study participants were provided an informed consent form for review and signature. The informed consent form was discussed in detail with the participant to avoid any possible ambiguity in understanding the study and participation requirements. No study participants had to withdrawal from the study. Third, all data that was obtained from participant interaction or confidential sources was safeguarded in envelopes in a locked container to avoid inadvertent discloser. Study data analysis and findings were not attributed to any participant. All data relating to the study not required was shredded before disposal.

Summary

Chapter 3, the research methodology guiding the study, and the rationale for the methodology's selection were described. Although additional qualitative and

phenomenological specific approaches were considered, an IPA research approach was selected.

After IRB approval and all required protocols are followed, the data collection began. Using semi-structured interviews and purposive sampling, the researcher's role explored the phenomena by interpreting the participant's interpretation of their lived experience. Data collected from governmental agency websites and media reports specific to the catastrophic incident was also considered in the data collection phase. The six-step IPA data analysis process pioneered by Johnathon Smith and used extensively in IPA research was used in this study.

Finally, to ensure the study's quality, the chapter identified how trustworthiness issues were addressed, specifically credibility, transferability, dependability, and confirmability. The ethical procedures that were followed during the study, including risk assessment, informed consent, and confidentially were described. Chapter 4 describes the research setting, demographics, data collection, data analysis, evidence of trustworthiness, and the study results.

Chapter 4: Results

The purpose of this qualitative IPA study was to explore the lived experiences of emergency management leaders responding to catastrophic incidents in the Southeastern United States relative to the bureaucratic organizational structure's characteristic of emergency management agencies in catastrophic disasters.

The following three research questions guided the study research:

RQ1: What are the lived experiences of emergency management leaders in catastrophic incidents given the bureaucratic organizational structures in which they operate?

RQ2: How do emergency management leaders find equilibrium between bureaucratic organizing processes and the need for adaptive responses in catastrophic incidents?

RQ3: How does member behavior in bureaucratic structures influence emergency management leader decision making?

This chapter discusses how the research data was collected and analyzed and presents the study results. Additionally, the chapter discusses the research interview setting, demographics, and evidence of trustworthiness. The chapter culminates with a summary.

Setting

The COVID-19 pandemic resulted in all study participant interviews being conducted using Microsoft Teams. Participants were interviewed in private settings at either the participant's work location or home office. Before the interview, participants were provided with a timeframe for the interview and based on the time selected; a Microsoft Teams invite was provided. The interviews were conducted with minimal to no interruptions. No external environmental factors negatively influenced the interviews or data collection.

Demographics

The 12 participants met the study's inclusion criteria as an emergency management leader supporting a catastrophic incident response in the Southeastern United States within the last 5 years. Table 1 identifies the study participant demographics. The participants identified as White with extensive experience in emergency management and leaders. The participants had between 8 to 44 years within the emergency management career field with a range of 3 to 23 years as an emergency management leader. Participants had emergency management experience at the County, State, Federal/National levels. Eleven of the participants were male, and one was female.

Table 1

Participant	Age	Gender	Race	Years working in Emergency Management	Years as an Emergency Management Leader	Level
1001	65	Male	White	32	25	State
1003	56	Male	White	16	9	State, Federal/National
1010	61	Male	White	38	15	State, Federal/National
1018	56	Male	White	21	15	State
1040	53	Female	White	12	12	County
1047	49	Male	White	19	18	State, Federal/National
1053	49	Male	White	17	17	County
1075	33	Male	White	8	3	State
1080	62	Male	White	25	16	State, Federal/National
1093	68	Male	White	26	29	State, Federal/National
1113	68	Male	White	23	23	State
1117	62	Male	White	44	14	County, State, Federal/National

Participant's Demographic Data

Data Collection

Prospective study participants were solicited, and participant interviews were conducted following the IRB approved process outlined in Chapter 3. After receiving IRB approval, I identified emergency management leaders operating in the Southeastern United States who had supported catastrophic incidents in the last 5 years that could participate in the study. Twelve prospective interviewees, including study participant champion referrals, were solicited through email, and agreed to participate in the study. After electronically receiving the participant's informed consent, interviews were scheduled telephonically, with subsequent follow-up emails to confirm the interview date and time.

A purposeful sampling strategy was used to interview the 12 study participants using Microsoft Teams over 26 weeks. The study interview guide (see Appendix A) was used to conduct semistructured interviews at the participant's workplace or home office. The audio portion of the interview from Microsoft Teams was then transcribed using NVivo Release 1 (MAC) transcription. The interviews were scheduled for 60 minutes, with most lasting the entire 60 minutes, and those interviews that didn't ranged from 45-50 minutes. Five follow-up interviews were conducted to clarify the initial information, lasting between 5 to 10 minutes. All interviews went smoothly with no or minimal interruptions.

A member check was completed with each participant. The participants were provided a detailed interview summary and the transcription data. Once the participants reviewed the documents, they acknowledged the accuracy of the interpretation of their experience. Relevant public domain documentation from organizational websites, After Action Reviews, , federal major disaster declarations, briefings, SOPs, some provided by the study participants, were also gathered to support triangulation.

Data Analysis

I followed the six-step iterative process that Smith et al. (2009) outlined for IPA to analyze the data. The initial step focused on "immersing oneself in the original data" (Smith et al., 2009, p. 82). In this stage, the researcher begins the process of active

engagement with the data to focus the researcher on the underlying meaning of the information collected (Smith et al., 2009). Interview transcripts are re-read multiple times, and audio recordings are listened to simultaneously (Smith et al., 2009). The researcher's objective is to understand the study participant's interpretation of their lived experiences by becoming immersed in the data (Smith et al., 2009). Step two involves a detailed analysis of the transcript. As Smith et al. (2009) suggest, this step is the most laborious and "examines semantic content and language use on a very exploratory level" (p. 83). In step three, emergent themes will be developed from the exploratory notes created from the previous step. Smith et al. (2009) suggest that during the development of emergent themes, the researcher interprets the study participants' original perspectives of the lived experiences using a hermeneutic framework. Step four involves searching for how emergent themes may fit together to understand better the underlying phenomena components (Smith et al., 2009). In step five, the individual study participant's transcripts analysis is finalized, and the researcher begins the evaluation of the next transcript (Smith et al., 2009). In the final step, the researcher evaluates thematic patterns across all the participant transcripts analyzed to capture overarching themes across cases that can further increase the understanding of the phenomena (Smith et al., 2009).

In the initial stage of the analysis process, I read and reread the interview transcripts multiple times while listening to the audio transcripts, taking copious notes throughout the process. As Smith et al. (2009) suggest, my focus was on understanding the participants' interpretation of their experiences. In step two, using a reflective journal housed within NVivo Release 1 (MAC), a more detailed analysis was performed with additional notetaking and reflection on the participants' lived experiences. Using a reflective journal as part of the participant transcript analysis increases the validity and quality of the IPA (Vicary et al., 2017). To gain additional context and support triangulation, I also reviewed participant-specific documents consisting of federal disaster declarations, organizational diagrams, operational reports, and processes. The use of triangulation where multiple data sources provide increased validity of the data and provide a mechanism for the researcher to obtain increased incite on the interpretation of the data (Kekeya, 2021; Farquhar et al., 2020). Based on the data interpretation conducted in step two and guided by the research questions, in step 3, I began to establish emergent themes using the hermeneutic framework for individual study participant transcripts. In step 4, I started considering connections across emergent themes identified in each transcript the better understand how the participant's interpretation of their experience provides increased understanding of the phenomena. After completing this iterative process, I moved on to the next participant transcript until all were completed.

In the final step, I evaluated thematic patterns uncovered in my analysis across each participant's transcripts. I established a master table of themes considering each of the transcript analyses. I made reflective notes to consider my interpretation of the participant's experiences presented throughout the above process. Superordinate and subthemes were identified and ordered by comparing each of the transcripts.

Evidence of Trustworthiness

Credibility

Credibility in qualitative research is achieved when there is a shared understanding of the lived experience among individuals (Sandelowski, 1986). To facilitate the study's credibility, as Cope (2014) suggests, I used strategies to ensure credibility, including reflexivity, prolonged engagement, and member checking. I maintained a reflective journal to minimize inherent researcher bias throughout the research process. The journal allowed me to reflect on my experiences throughout the interview process and consider my feelings as I interpreted the participant's experiences. I developed a report with each study participant by following a systematic method of engagement focused on understanding the participant's interpretation of their experiences. As Cope (2014) suggests developing a rapport with the study participants is critical for prolonged engagement. The interviews focused on building trusting relationships to elicit participant responses that provided a deep understanding of their experience within their unique operational setting. The rapport developed facilitated the participant's willingness to provide detailed descriptions of their experiences.

All the interviews were transcribed verbatim, and interview summaries were developed. Both documents were provided to the study participants for confirmation that my interpretation of their experiences was accurate. The member checking process used in the study ensured the accuracy of my understanding of the participant's experiences.

Transferability

The objective of transferability in qualitative studies is to provide a sufficient understanding of the data for others to decide whether the findings could apply to other contexts (Schwandt et al., 2007). To establish transferability, the researcher needs to articulate a detailed description of the phenomena, context, research methods, and study boundaries to allow understanding of the possible applicability to various situations. The role of the researcher is to provide thick descriptions of the participant's experience relating to the study phenomena, interviewees will be asked open-ended questions, follow-up questions, and member checking will be used to elicit an understanding of the study participant's unique lived experiences (Amankwaa, 2016). A thick description is characterized as a detailed description of the emotional, thought process, context, and social interaction associated with the study participant's description of the phenomena experienced (Ponterotto, 2006). To achieve sufficient thick descriptions of the study phenomena, interviewees were asked open-ended questions, follow-up questions, and member checking was used to confirm my understanding of the study participant's unique lived experiences.

Dependability

As Shenton (2004) and Cope (2014) suggest, qualitative research's dependability is based on similar study findings by another researcher using a similar context and study participants. As Shenton (2004) suggests, (a) documentation and detailed explanation of the implementations of the research design, (b) a detailed explanation of field research and data obtained, and (c) a critical reflective evaluation of the study can facilitate establishing dependability. The strategy I used to ensure dependability included a reflexive journal with an audit of the process followed throughout the study. In my reflective journal, I identified the (a) research steps followed, (b) the methods used, and (c) how they relate to the participant's lived experiences. In addition, a detailed review of the study was completed by my committee to confirm the alignment of the research process followed in understanding the participant's lived experiences and study findings.

Confirmability

Confirmability is a critical component of trustworthiness that ensures objectivity and researcher bias is not represented in the study findings. As Ellis (2019) suggests, confirmability requires understanding how the data was compiled and researcher interpretations of the participants' experiences as indicated in the study. I used a reflexivity strategy and triangulation in addressing the need for confirmability. A reflexive journal was used throughout the research process, clearly articulating my thoughts perceptions focusing on bias minimization. The use of original participant quotes in the study identified the basis for my interpretation supporting the conformability of the study (Ellis, 2019). Triangulation was also used to minimize researcher bias and facilitate study confirmability. As Guba (1981) suggests, triangulation minimizes researcher bias and facilitates study confirmability. As a result, multiple data sources were used to assess the interpretation of the data, including relevant public domain documentation from organizational websites, After Action Reviews, briefings, and SOPs.

Results

Superordinate and subordinate themes were established using the study research questions as a guide. Superordinate themes were the names given to clusters of like subordinate themes that emerged from participant descriptions of their experiences (Smith at al., 2009). As shown in Table 2, eight superordinate and fourteen subordinate themes were identified. A more detailed description of each of the themes follows in the subsequent paragraphs after Table 2.

Table 2

Superordinate Themes and Subordinate Themes

#	Superordinate Themes	Subordinate Themes
1	The effects of bureaucratic organizational structures can be a limiting factor during a catastrophic incident	a) Bureaucratic organizational structural constraintsb) Organizational size
2	The context of the human-caused or natural disaster influences leader perception of what is required	a) Routine incidentb) Catastrophic Incident
3	Importance of emergency management leadership	 a) Leadership b) Senior leadership support c) Facilitating adaptive responses d) Member empowerment e) Mutual Trust f) Communication
4	Relationships play a critical role in influencing outcomes in a catastrophic incident	Building and maintaining stakeholder relationships
5	Bureaucratic organizational structures processes for control provide a foundation for organizational adaptability	Organizational adaptation rooted in evolving established bureaucratic processes
6	A catastrophic incident forces the organization's structure to adapt	Effects of a catastrophic incident on the organization
7	The bureaucratic organizing culture can influence member behaviors and response outcomes	a) Negative influence on member behaviorb) Bureaucratic culture can influence member adaptive responses and response outcomes
8	Member experience influences successful outcomes	Member experience in responding to previous incidents facilitated the ability of the organization to respond to new ones

Note. RQ1 superordinate themes 1-4, RQ 2 superordinate theme 5 and 6 and RQ3 superordinate

themes 7 and 8.

Superordinate Theme 1: The Effects of Bureaucratic Organizational Structures Can Be a Limiting Factor During a Catastrophic Incident

This superordinate theme describes how participants viewed the bureaucratic organizational processes as having a limiting effect on successful operational outcomes during a catastrophic incident. The theme includes inherent bureaucratic organizational structural constraints and organizational size. Bureaucratic organizational structure constraints refer to how bureaucratic organizing characteristics focused on processes and procedures designed to control member actions and organizational outcomes can limit adaptive responses needed during catastrophic incidents. Organizational size identifies some participant's perceptions that the organization's size influenced the degree of bureaucracy in organizational structures.

Theme 1a: Bureaucratic Organizational Structural Constraints

All the participants described the need to mitigate the influence of bureaucratic structure's inherent organizing framework during catastrophic incidents. The context of a catastrophic incident necessitates overcoming any bureaucratic, structural limiting organizing processes to achieve required operational outcomes. Participants indicated one or more processes, including plans, procedures, or organizational structure, needed to be adapted based on the situation confronted. When discussing the limiting factors of bureaucratic organizational structures organizing processes, Participant 1018 described how an emergency management leader needs to be able to navigate these limiting factors such as policy and procedures that may not have the best effect on what you're trying to do."

Participant 1080 described how emergency management leaders need to cut through the bureaucracy and make things happen to effect required outcomes, "About bureaucracy, we often used to say that we were like [pipe cleaner] because the clogs were stopped up. People would move in, and we thought it was emergency management's role to put some [pipe cleaner] in the pipes to get them flushed out and get them going."

Participants described the negative influence of bureaucratic organizational structure processes as applicable to stakeholder organizations operating in the emergency management system supporting response operations they were working with. Participant 1003, when discussing the limiting effect of a stakeholder agency's bureaucratic process and procedures during a catastrophic incident, described how the stakeholder agency's inability to adapt to the novel situation confronted based on their rigid established procedures influenced response efforts. "Staff wasn't adaptable enough; they were very stuck with we do things one, two, three, and that's it. They could only do it the way they did it." The participant continued, "they legitimately wanted to do everything the way they'd always done it, despite the fact it was a catastrophic incident."

Some participants described how bureaucratic organizational processes should be considered throughout the emergency management system when executing response operations because they existed at levels throughout the system. When discussing the need to consider the various layers of organizational bureaucracy within the emergency management system in a catastrophic incident, Participant 1075 indicated, "There's bureaucracy up and down the chain. There're multiple levels of bureaucracy; whether you're talking about the Feds, the States, the Locals, whether they be operational or political, every component of that is a bureaucracy".

Theme 1b: Organizational Size

Some participants described how the organization's size impacted the degree of influence bureaucratic organizing processes had on member actions. Five participants indicated that the greater the organization's size, the greater the degree of bureaucratic organizing processes that need to be mitigated. The participants indicated that smaller organizations could better mitigate the effects of bureaucratic processes based on the limited number of members required for effective decision-making and how small organizations fostered relationships among members. Participant 1010, when describing their increased ability to adapt to novel situations, remarked,

It's the size... I would say the bureaucracy of the federal government, the bureaucracy of the state government, so much larger than the bureaucracy that I have seen in a local county government not as ridged." The participant went on to say in a small community, "The hospital president was part of the team, the school superintendent, we have the ability to bring people together and what's even more impressive out here is that they listen to each other, trust each other and work together.

When discussing how the organizational size mitigates the limiting effects of bureaucratic structures on member decision making, Participant 1040 indicated the smaller organizational size "Increases our abilities to do things. "We can move more quickly through decision making." Participant 1113 highlighted when discussing the rigidity of stakeholder agency's inability to adapt from established procedures based on their large size, indicated, "It's a big organization, got like 4,000 people in it, they're not exactly nimble."

Superordinate Theme 2: The Context of the Human-Caused or Natural Disaster Influences Leader Perception of What Is Required

This superordinate theme describes how participants perceive the effects of human-caused or natural emergency management incidents. This theme includes routine and catastrophic incidents. Routine incidents are mitigated at the local first responder level based on their limited impacts on the societal ecosystem and reduced complexity and uncertainty. The converse is true of catastrophic incidents. Based on their effects on the societal ecosystem, complexity, and uncertainty, catastrophic incidents can overwhelm a societal ecosystem at various governmental levels, i.e., county, state, or federal level requiring the capability to restore the system.

Theme 2a: Routine Incident

Most participants described a routine emergency management incident as mitigated using defined processes and procedures and addressed at the first responder level without significant bureaucratic, structural adaptation. Four participants described a routine emergency management incident as mitigated using defined processes and procedures, and four described routine incidents as being addressed by first responders at the local level. One participant described a routine incident as having enough capability at the operational level needed to mitigate the effects of the incident. In comparison, another indicated that the distinction between a routine and catastrophic incident is time and resources. The routine incident is addressed in a shorter time duration without the need for additional resources to mitigate the effects of the incident.

In describing routine disasters, Participant 1001 indicated, "A routine incident would be handled differently [than a catastrophic incident], the process we use day to day." Participant 1010 describes how "Fire chiefs, police chiefs, sheriffs, EMS responders, they manage those day-to-day responses that take place outside of any need to activate the emergency response plan." Participant 1075 describes how with routine incidents, "You have the ability oftentimes to stick within the plans and procedures and things you exercised."

Theme 2b: Catastrophic Incident

The dominant theme by participants in describing the distinction between a catastrophic and routine incident is that a catastrophic incident requires an organizational structural adaptation to address the effects on the ecosystem. Eight of the participants indicated the organization goes through some degree of adaptation, including modifying the emergency operations plan, establishing an emergency operations center, or integrating external emergency management capability to mitigate the effects of a catastrophic incident. The participants also indicated there is an increased level of complexity and magnitude associated with a catastrophic incident. Participant 1075, when describing the need for organizational adaptation and flexibility, indicated,

No plan survives first contact with the enemy, and in a catastrophic incident, it's the same, you want to have the flexibility within your systems to be able to go off-script, but you want to be able to do it in a trusted environment." He went on to say, "It's really not until those unforeseen catastrophic impacts start to either become apparent that they're going to happen, or that they have happened that you're got to start immediately thinking outside the box.

Participant 1047 describes how he views the distinction between a catastrophic and a routine incident as associated with the degree of complexity,

I do not try to get into catastrophic and non-catastrophic because I am a believer in if your house is destroyed and your family is impacted, that's a catastrophic disaster to you. I also think about it [the incident] as a catastrophic because to someone it is. I look at it [catastrophic or routine] is it going to be hard or

complex, but when you look at it as catastrophic, you look at the complexities. Participant 1080 describes a component associated with a catastrophic incident as the need for additional capability by a jurisdiction that is overwhelmed by the effects of the incident, "I think the catastrophic incident is when a particular jurisdiction doesn't have the capability and the capacity to deal with it." Participant 1018 describes how for a larger event like a catastrophic incident, the organizations adapt with the establishment of an Emergency Operations Center, "As we move to larger events like a major hurricane, we will pull people into the EOC."

Superordinate Theme 3: Importance of Emergency Management Leadership

The role leadership plays in achieving successful outcomes in a catastrophic incident was a dominant theme among participants. This theme is comprised of (a) leadership, (b) senior leadership support, (c) facilitating adaptive responses, (d) member empowerment, (e) mutual trust, and (f) communication. Leadership influence identifies
the role of the participant's ability the exercise leadership actions influencing member and stakeholder actions to mitigate the effects of bureaucracy plays a vital role in catastrophic incidents. Senior leadership support refers to the degree management supports the participant in executing their duties. Leadership influence on member adaptive responses identifies how the participant establishes a culture that facilitates member's ability to exercise adaptive responses in their decision making. The themes of member empowerment and trust consider how the participant's actions create an environment to empower team members to exercise adaptive responses while establishing leader-follower mutual trust. Communication refers to the need identified by participants to constantly communicate with members, management, or stakeholders to convey intent accurately, confirm member perceptions and obtain buy-in when required to avoid delays in decision making.

Theme 3a: Leadership

Eleven participants described how leadership plays a critical role in responding to catastrophic incidents. The ability of emergency management leaders to navigate and mitigate inherent bureaucratic, structural organizing characteristics was identified as an essential requirement in achieving positive outcomes in a catastrophic incident. Participant 1047 describes how emergency management leader's ability to navigate bureaucracies is critical in achieving successful response outcomes, "Maneuvering in a bureaucracy should be an education amongst itself, we see what needs to be changed, you give them [stakeholders] something [to review] right, they are more apt to get on board."

Participants described how effective leadership is a crucial component in supporting the emergency response team and mitigating the limiting factors associated with bureaucracy. When discussing leadership's role in a catastrophic incident, Participant 1075 identifies their primary thought as "How am I going to support the team, because without them we're not going to get anything done." When considering the bureaucratic organizational challenges confronted internally and externally in the emergency management system during catastrophic incidents, Participant 1075 described how they view their role, "My job was to remove obstacles and take all punches." Some participants indicated that the emergency management leader sets the operational tone for their team and coordinates with stakeholders to facilitate response outcomes. When describing an emergency management leader's role in exercising leadership, Participant 1117 indicates, "They [emergency management leaders] are really a communicator of information, but they're also a person who provides a strong command presence and shows empathy, but at the same time can communicate the importance of the disaster."

Theme 3b: Senior Leadership Support

Eight of the participants described how management support of the participant was critical to achieving successful operational outcomes. When expressing how necessary management support is, Participant 1080 indicated, "Your appointing official has got to, show their support for you all the time because unfortunately, humans will gravitate toward people, or will listen to people they think are in a position of power." Participant 1040 described how management actions rallied the emergency response team in support of common emergency management objectives remarking, "Leadership projects positive reinforcement of the emergency management goals, that when we go into a catastrophic event, opinions are welcomed, but eventually we are all going in the same direction." Participant 1117 and Participant 1075 describe how senior leadership support empowers emergency management leaders to execute their duties,

Depending upon the way that local leadership buys into the concepts of emergency management, and what their true role is, and how much latitude they [senior leadership] provide or how much emphasis they put on emergency management, dictates what the ultimate outcomes are going to be, not only on the preparedness side but also the activation side. (Participant 1117) The trust [of the senior leaders] I was carrying into the EOC, I made it very apparent to those people the authority and the backing we had to do our jobs. A lot of times, people don't have the full backing, regardless of what's going to happen, and it makes a big difference when you can walk in there with the support to do the job, you know there's going to be problems, but you got to figure them out. (Participant 1075)

Theme 3c: Facilitating Adaptive Responses

Ten participants describe their role as leaders in shaping an environment that facilitates member and stakeholder adaptability during a catastrophic incident. Participant 1117 remarked,

As an emergency management director, you are the front person. So, it is your responsibility to have the capabilities, the art of emergency management to go in there and hopefully resolve those issues quickly as you possibly can and get those

people on board with the global plan. As an emergency management director, you got to be able to go in there and to adapt your processes or your method of attack.

Participant 1053 describes how the emergency management leader the criticality of instilling in the team the need for adaptive responses in catastrophic incidents, "Our mentality has to be we're attacking forward, at any moment in time we have to have the ability to change 90 degrees and go a different direction to support the mission" Participant 1003 when describing the importance of adaptive responses to novel challenges associated with catastrophic incidents stated, "You take what you do all the time, and what you're trying to do, and you adapt it to the situation that you're in."

Theme 3d: Member Empowerment

Eight participants described how leadership empowerment of members to make decisions facilitated positive emergency response outcomes. Participant 1018 indicated,

I like to empower them (members) and build decision making on their own kind of problems. Folks you know, sometimes make bad decisions; you try to support them and at the same time redirect them, you get the job done and the objectives completed. You can allow people flexibility to make decisions on their own and handle situations on their own.

Participants 1113 and 1047, when highlighting the need for member initiative, elimination of stove piping decision making and inclusive member decision making indicated, "We try to let people exercise their initiative, it's not one person makes all the decisions in this organization, certainly not in response, and I think some people try to operate that way and any events we have had you cannot operate that way, can't do that micromanaging, you got to be able to find good people, put them in the job, let them do what they need to do. Your head will explode if you don't do it that way." "The more you can make everybody feel part of the team, the more you can make people have some type of personnel stake in a disaster, and in the solution, you're better off." (Participant 1047)

Describing a philosophy of member empowerment within the organization, participant 1053 indicated, "So our organization has to empower its people to make decisions and not be frozen by fear that the bureaucratic process is going to bog them down."

Theme 3e: Mutual Trust

Eight participants identified that member-follower mutual trust facilitated positive operational outcomes during response operations. When discussing member actions during catastrophic incidents, Participant 1080 described how during a response, "You delegate a lot more authority in the bigger situations and just trust, which I think was easy to do when you done the small stuff." When describing how leadership mitigates bureaucratic rigidity, Participant 1075 stated "You got to have trust, between members, whether it be from years working together, whether it be from taking time to exercise together, the more you know your teammates, their capabilities, the more you're able to solve problems."

Theme 3f: Communication

Eight of the participants identified an emergency management leader's ability to communicate with members and stakeholders as critical for successful response outcomes. When discussing the leadership communication within the emergency management system, Participant 1001 indicated, "Obviously trust is important, talking with people, taking the time even if you're tired, you communicate with people, you include people in meetings make them part of the team, connect them. Participant 1040 added, "It definitely a communications game; you have to communicate all the time, and it's almost exhaustive how much you need to make sure your partners are in line with you and understand the goals of the whole." When discussing the lack of communications among emergency management system stakeholders resulting in negative outcomes, Participant 1003 indicated, "The heads of the agency were not working together, and their staffs were not working together, they were stove piping information, they were not sharing information. So, I established a process that we would learn together and decide together that we would not learn new information in a vacuum and stovepipe it." Superordinate Theme 4: Relationships Play a Critical Role in Influencing Outcomes in a Catastrophic Incident

All the participants described the importance of building stakeholder relationships to achieve successful operational outcomes during a catastrophic incident. This theme describes the role relationships have in mitigating bureaucratic organizing structure effects and influencing organizational adaptability. One of the participants indicated that stakeholder relationships were critical for developing a culture of trust required for successful outcomes during a catastrophic incident. Another participant stated relationships were critical to minimizing cultural barriers when operating in new areas. Two participants indicated that stakeholder relationships are a critical component of organizational adaptability. Participant 1047, when describing the need to build and maintain relationships, remarked, "I look at it as unity of effort, not unity of command, unity of effort. An emergency manager is continually doing relationship management. That's what it really comes down to, and you do that through time." The dominant participant belief was that stakeholder relationships could mitigate the effects of bureaucracy. Eight participants indicated that developing and managing emergency management relationships can mitigate bureaucratic influences. Participant 1075, when describing how relationships mitigate the effects of bureaucratic processes, suggested, "There are multiple levels of bureaucracy whether you're talking about the Feds, the state the locals whether they are operational or political, every single component of that is bureaucracy. So having relationships to cut through that and go directly to the source is important." Participant 1117 indicated,

Again, your relationship that you've cultivated with your external agency stakeholders, even your NGO's, your non-governmental organizations, all those relationships play into the successful outcome and whether they are going to follow your lead as an emergency management official or whether they're going to doubt what you're telling them. So, relationships are everything in this business. When discussing the value of relationships to mitigate the effect of bureaucratic structures, Participant 1047 stressed the need for emergency management leaders to establish relationships,

You've got the bureaucracy, but you got the other layer of how it really works. You got to start pulling those levers before the official lever. You need to have solid plans and processes, but if you have that without solid relationships, it's not going to do any good. I would rather have a solid relationship and a poor plan than the best plan written and not know everybody that needs to implement it.

Superordinate Theme 5: Bureaucratic Organizational Structures Processes for Control Provide a Foundation for Organizational Adaptability

All the participants described how bureaucratic processes, including plans, processes, procedures, and organizational structure, provide the framework of organizational control that forms the foundation for leader-influenced organizational adaptability during a catastrophic incident. The theme reflects how participants viewed operational plans, including the emergency management organizational frameworks followed in those plans as providing a bassline to adapt response operations from during a catastrophic incident. Participants indicated that planning was a crucial foundational process that provided a necessary framework to adapt during a catastrophic incident. Participant 1093 indicated, "Nothing ever goes according to the plan, but you got to have a plan." When describing the need for adaptability in executing a response, Participant 1117 remarked, "The emergency manager has to understand there are certain key aspects that got to take place, particularly when you are in the life safety mode. As an emergency manager, you got to be able to adapt your processes or your method of attack, so to speak. The participant described this balance as the "art of emergency management." Participant 1003 described his experience of how the emergency management structure facilitates adaptability,

In my experience, the more organized things are, the more structured they are, the better the response goes because it actually gives you, this may sound counterintuitive, but it (structure) it gives you more flexibility because you have the mechanics of the response already established, you're not having to figure out how to do the big stuff, you just got to figure out how to answer those calls for help. You don't have to figure out how to talk to people and the right person for this and that. That's already determined through the structure. You just got to figure out how to execute. Having contingency plans against potential scenarios that are adaptable.... makes an enormous difference.

Participant 1117 indicated "I don't believe in emergency management you can write a step one, step two, do this step, step three, do that plan it's too ridged, so you have to develop a framework of mechanisms to kind of glide slop your effort, your plan is adaptable enough to whatever the circumstances." Participant 1010 indicated the plan "Is a good reference point, a foundation to work from, but if it's not working for this particular event, you make adjustments on the fly and then fix the plan later."

Participant 1001 indicated,

The state operates with a Comprehensive Emergency Management Plan (CEMP); it's not all the answers to every incident or everything we do, but it lays out a very defined structure of the EOC. Now you get an exception, that's the beauty of having a team in the State EOC, a specific problem we can start pulling people out of the emergency support function and get it resolved.

Participant 1018 describes the need for flexibility in your structure, "One of the principles of the Incident Command System (ICS) is that your structure is scalable and flexible enough to add on as you see fit based on what your needs are and what your hazard analysis is telling you." When discussing how the agency responds to catastrophic incidents with the formation of a State Emergency Response Team Participant 1075 describes the process followed,

I think one of the beauties of the agency is the way it responds to catastrophic incidents, bring together cross-functional members from across state government, there's both rigidity and flexibility in the process and procedures. No plan survives first contact, and with a catastrophic incident it's the same, and so you want to have the flexibility within your systems to go off script.

Superordinate Theme 6: A Catastrophic Incident Forces the Organization's Structure to Adapt

All the participants indicated the effects of a catastrophic incident resulted in adapting the bureaucratic organizing structure process and procedures. Most organizational structures adapt during a catastrophic incident when they form an Emergency Operations Center. Process and procedures go through a degree of adaptation to meet the novel challenge associated with the effects of the catastrophic incident. Participant 1040 indicated, "Yeah, it [catastrophic incident] doesn't leave us room to be rigid. You have to remain flexible with each incident because there's something different with each one". Participant 1080 described how in a catastrophic incident, "You have a problem that could potentially cost lives you got to operate outside the box and stuff like that." When discussing the organization's emergency management framework for response operations, Participant 1113 indicated, "Well the bottom line is, for most of it, [Covid 19 response] we used our existing [emergency management] framework, but we did have to modify some of it, and it was done in terms of additional plans and protocols." Participant 1053 indicated "As far as organizational structure, the organization needs to make sure it has the flexibility." Participant 1001 described how during a catastrophic incident the organization "Takes on a more task-organized structure with the establishment of the State Emergency Response Team, a capabilities-based structure." in the EOC. Participant 1003 described how he needed to identify a trigger to begin adapting from the routine in a catastrophic incident, "The trick to me is really knowing when your normal processes are going to be overwhelmed by a catastrophic event. So, it goes back to being able to identify that your routine procedures are not going to be up to the challenge and being adaptable enough to shift."

Superordinate Theme 7: The Bureaucratic Organizing Culture Can Influence Member Behaviors and Response Outcomes

This superordinate theme describes how participants perceive the effects of bureaucratic organizational can influence member behavior and emergency management responses. This theme includes the organizational culture's negative influence on member behavior, adaptive responses, and operational outcomes. The negative effect on member behavior reflects the participants' feelings that the culture of a bureaucratic organizing structure can inhibit member decision-making based on possible repercussions. An organizational culture influenced by leader actions to facilitate adaptive responses can be conducive to member adaptive responses and positive operations outcomes.

Theme 7a: Negative Influence on Member Behavior

Seven of the participants indicated the consequences of making a mistake inhibited member decision-making. Participant 1080, in describing the effect of bureaucratic culture on member decision making, suggested, "I do kind of get a little bit frustrated with bureaucracies in that it takes away their [member] ability to lead, for fear of negative repercussions from their [member] decision making. Participant 1093 indicated,

The effects of bureaucracy are, of course, the culture of bureaucracy in an organization. People are going to do what you re-enforce them to do, and if you reinforce them not to make decisions, they are not going to make decisions, even though in a disaster, it's very important that they make fast decisions [during a catastrophic incident].

Participant 1003 stated, "You know they [emergency management leaders] are appointees if they made a mistake, the leadership could fire them. They did not want to make a mistake, and in that fear, they made the worst mistake and did nothing."

Subtheme 7b: Bureaucratic Culture Can Influence Member Adaptive Responses and Operational Outcomes

All participants described the influence organizational culture has on executing response operations in catastrophic incidents. The organizational culture influences member actions that can impact the outcomes of response operations. In describing the type of culture required for operational success, Participant 1003 stated, "If you develop a culture within that [bureaucratic] structure of adaptability and being proactive, it enables you to make the jump to catastrophic and the more unknown because you got confidence in your capabilities." Participant 1117 added when you develop a culture of,

We understand you're going to fail, and we're going to stand the ground with you, you just tell us what you need. We are going to support you, and if anything goes bad, we got you; this provides the emergency management team with the understanding that they can make decisions based on the best possible information they have.

Participant 1047 describes the need for a no-fault environment with an emphasis on mission accomplishment "I think that you build a culture in emergency management by showing teammates what they do matters and how it fits into the bigger picture. As an Emergency Management Leader, be humble. I made a lot of mistakes, very few mistakes cannot be adjusted quickly. Blame the disaster, not the people."

Superordinate Theme 8: Member Experience Influences Successful Outcomes

Eight participants described how the member experience responding to previous incidents facilitated the ability of the organization to respond to new ones. Participants

told how incident response experience allowed members to mitigate the effects of catastrophic incidents easier than organizations with less member experience. Participant 1010 describes how experience influences response outcomes,

So, we have been through this with tropical events and weather events. So, I have to start saying it was easier for us, but it's probably easier for us than others who don't have the muscle movement experience of dealing with disasters like we have.

When discussing the challenges associated with ineffective agency bureaucratic processes, Participant 1003 described how his experience allowed him to navigate through challenges confronted, "I knew how to fix things, and I knew what we needed to do based on years of training and experience."

Summary

Twelve individuals participated in this study exploring the lived experiences of emergency management leaders responding to a catastrophic incident. Nine superordinate and fourteen subordinate themes were identified and analyzed guided by study research questions. There were eight superordinate themes identified in the study. These themes included (a) bureaucratic organizational structures can be a limiting factor during a catastrophic incident, (b) the incident context influences leaders perception of requirements, (c) the importance of emergency management leadership, (d) stakeholder relationships are critical during catastrophic incidents, (e) bureaucratic structures processes for control provide a foundation for organizational adaptability, (f) a catastrophic incident forces organizational structural adaptation, (f) the bureaucratic organizing culture can influence member behaviors, (g) member experience influences successful outcomes. In Chapter 5, I will be discussing the interpretation of my data analysis, study findings, implications for future research, and social change. Additionally, I will discuss the limitations of the study. Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations

The purpose of this qualitative study was to explore the lived experiences of emergency management leaders exercising leadership responding to catastrophic disasters. An IPA approach in the hermeneutic tradition was used for this study. A complexity leadership theoretical lens informed the study's conceptual framework exploring the relationship between bureaucratic structures and an emergency management leader's ability to exercise adaptive responses. The study was conducted to understand better the influence of bureaucratic, structural control mechanisms, and the emergency management leader's ability to exercise adaptive responses in catastrophic incidents. As Kapucu and Garayev, (2016) suggest, an emergency management leader's inability to exercise adaptive responses in catastrophic incidents can be a limiting factor in achieving successful response outcomes.

The study findings presented in Chapter 4 were similar to the current body of knowledge presented in Chapter 2. Still, they extended this knowledge by discussing mechanisms to mitigate bureaucratic processes based on the experiences of the study participants. Chapter 5 discusses the interpretation of key study findings broken down by theme, study limitations, the study's influence on positive social change, recommendations for practical application, a discussion of the conceptual framework, and conclusion.

Interpretation of Findings

The study participants provided an in-depth description of their lived experiences during a catastrophic incident where eight themes were identified. Complexity leadership theory informed my conceptual framework used in the study by providing a tool to better understand stakeholder interactions in a system where the emergence of novel solutions results from the conflict that arises from the need to exercise bureaucratic and adaptive leadership. The following is a discussion of the study findings based on the body of knowledge presented in this study, and the participants lived experiences.

The Effects of Bureaucratic Organizational Structures Can Be a Limiting Factor During Catastrophic Incidents

A consistent theme in the research literature is that bureaucratic organizational structural characteristics can limit organizational adaptability and influence successful response outcomes during a catastrophic incident (Jovita & Nurmandi, 2018; Jung et al., 2018; Takeda & Helms, 2006a; Takeda & Helms, 2006b; Wukich & Robinson, 2013;). All the study participants indicated the organizational processes associated with bureaucratic structures could be a limiting factor during catastrophic incidents if not mitigated. The participants described how it is incumbent for successful outcomes that emergency management leaders understand the influence of and mitigate the bureaucratic constraints that may be confronted during a catastrophic incident. When faced with bureaucratic operational constraints, participants described how emergency management leader decisiveness and processes adaptation were critical skills needed to achieve required outcomes in a catastrophic incident. As some participants indicated, the bureaucratic organizational challenges are not limited to the emergency management leader's organization but can be characteristic of stakeholders within the emergency management network responding to the catastrophic incident.

In a 2017 study, Kapucu and Demiroz explored organizations within emergency management networks. The authors found the limiting effects of bureaucratic organizational structures can be characteristic of emergency management stakeholders' organizations operating in networks throughout the emergency management system during a catastrophic incident. As the complexity of a catastrophic incident grows, so too does the number of organizations required to provide support (Kapucu & Demiroz, 2017). The effectiveness of an emergency management leader requires establishing unity of effort with stakeholders and working through bureaucracy, even if it's external to your organization. The participants described how an emergency management leader must learn to develop relationships with external stakeholders operating at levels of organizational bureaucracy throughout the emergency management system to achieve the unity of effort necessary for successful outcomes.

Some participants described how the organization's size influenced the degree of bureaucracy. The larger the organization, the greater the bureaucratic influence. As a result, participants suggested that it was easier to mitigate the effects of bureaucracy in smaller emergency management organizations.

The participant's experiences suggest that effective response operations require emergency management leaders to navigate layers of bureaucracy in a catastrophic incident. Since most participants of this study were seasoned emergency management leaders, does the level of experience influence the ability of emergency managers to navigate the challenges associated with bureaucratic organizing structures? It appears from the participant's experiences it does influence adaptive responses.

The Context of the Human-Caused or Natural Disaster Influences Leader Perception of What Is Required

A dominant theme among study participants was how the context of routine emergencies and catastrophic incidents influenced how emergency management leaders perceived their effect on the organization. Most participants described how routine emergencies were primarily addressed at the local first responder level following SOPs with organic resources. As Nohrestedt (2016) and Jiang and Yuan (2019) found, because of the limited effects on societal systems, routine emergencies are mitigated through existing plans or by local first responders following SOPs.

As Broska et al. (2020) suggested, a catastrophic incident overwhelms the emergency management system and degrades the system's ability to function effectively. A catastrophic incident forces organizations to adapt based on the novel challenges confronted (Wukich & Robinson, 2013). In a catastrophic incident, most participants indicated the organizational structure is forced to adapt to address the overwhelming effects on the emergency management system. This organizational adaptation is manifested by establishing an emergency operations center, modifying plans, or integrating additional external resources. The study participants suggested the bureaucratic organizational processes that are effective for routine emergencies cannot meet the requirements for catastrophic incidents. A catastrophic incident requires an emergency management leader to facilitate organizational adaptation compared to a routine incident requiring minimal to none.

Importance of Emergency Management Leadership

The importance of effective leadership during a catastrophic incident was a dominant theme with participants. Emergency management leaders in catastrophic incidents need to exercise adaptive responses and operational flexibility (Strandth & Eklund, 2018). Johannessen's (2017) study suggests that in catastrophic incidents, emergency management leaders' ability to adapt and improvise to meet the challenges associated with the effects of a catastrophic incident was critical for achieving required outcomes. Emergency management resists the urge to control the situation with bureaucratic processes and procedures (Christian et al., 2016). Most participants felt a critical leadership skill associated with effective emergency management leaders was their ability to navigate and mitigate the inherent bureaucratic processes and adapt to the catastrophic effects on the operational system. Establishing equilibrium between the need to control and adaptive responses plays a critical role during a catastrophic incident.

Effective leadership's role at the various organizational levels was important for successful response outcomes. Participants described how important it was for the appointed or designated leader at the next level within the organization to support them during a catastrophic incident. This support empowered the emergency management leader and suggested effective leadership support is critical at every level within an organization to achieve required outcomes.

For many of the participants, the role of an emergency management leader was to shape an environment where members are empowered to exercise adaptive responses and, where possible, build relationships with stakeholders before a catastrophic incident. As Takeda and Helms (2006a, 2006b) study indicate, the leadership style of the emergency management leader shapes acceptable leader-follower behavior for problemsolving. Many study participants described how a critical emergency management leader requirement to shape culture for acceptance and cultivation of member activities leader to adaptive responses. Participants described the importance of establishing an organizational culture where members were empowered to make decisions and develop mutual trust.

In Kapucu and Ustun's (2018) study, the authors identified skills, traits, and behaviors similar to what study participants described as needed for effective crises leadership. Some of these traits included (a) the ability to manage innovation, (b) being an effective communicator, (c) the ability to motivate followers, and (d) teambuilding. In addition, participants stressed emergency management leaders needed to convey to members and stakeholders an understanding of the situation, articulate the operational challenges confronted, and be effective communicators.

Relationships Play a Critical Role in Influencing Outcomes in a Catastrophic Incident

Stakeholder relationships in emergency management are critical for achieving successful outcomes during a catastrophic incident (Kapucu etal., 2010; Kapucu & Garayevm, 2013; Kapucu & Hu, 2016; Robinson et al., 2013). As the complexity and size of an incident grow, so does the number of stakeholders within the response network. The requirement for developing stakeholder relationships and their value for coordinating and executing response operations during catastrophic incidents was a recurring theme among the study participants. Participants in the study unanimously agreed building and cultivating stakeholder relationships were critical to achieving successful response outcomes.

As Kapucu and Demiroz's (2017) study suggests, many barriers to building effective networks are bureaucratic stakeholder organizing structures in the emergency management system. Although recognizing the negative influence bureaucratic organizing has on successful operational outcomes, most participants described how relationships provided a mechanism to mitigate bureaucratic organizing processes to get requirements accomplished. They explained how a significant benefit of relationships was cutting through bureaucracy.

Relationship development provided additional benefits to support response efforts. One of the participants identified how relationships facilitated a culture of trust among members and stakeholders. In comparison, two others described how relationships facilitated organizational adaptability.

The Bureaucratic Organizing Structure Provides a Foundation for Adaptation

Andrew et al.'s (2018) study findings that the structure provided by formalized processes within bureaucratic structures provided a foundation for organizational adaptation was a dominant theme with all of the study participants. Participants described how the emergency management framework established by codified plans and procedures provided a baseline to adapt from to meet the novel challenges resulting from the effects of a catastrophic incident. From the participant's perspective, the goal of the emergency management leader was to balance the bureaucratic process of control with the requirement to adapt to meet the challenges confronted. When the two were in equilibrium, bureaucratic processes contributed to successful operational outcomes by providing a degree of control without constraining adaptive responses.

A Catastrophic Incident Forces Organizational Structural Adaptation

Punctuated change on societal systems at the local, state, or federal level from the effects of a catastrophic incident triggers organizational structural adaptation (Banica, Kourtit, & Nijkamp, 2020; Brouillette and Quarantelli,1971). In my research findings, all the participants described how the effects of a catastrophic incident caused a degree of bureaucratic, structural adaptation from routine day-to-day operations. While most participants indicated the structure remained within the boundaries of the established emergency management framework, there was a consistent requirement for structural adaptation. This bureaucratic, structural adaptation ranged from establishing an EOC designed to coordinate response efforts to modification of processes, procedures, or plans to address the novel challenges confronted. Participants described how the effects of a catastrophic incident leave little room for rigidity in methods of operation characteristic of bureaucratic processes. To maintain a rigid and inflexible organizing methodology would not support the need for adaptive responses necessary in catastrophic incidents.

The Bureaucratic Organizing Culture Can Influence Member Behaviors and Response Outcomes

During a catastrophic incident, the inherent characteristics of organizational bureaucracies can perpetuate a culture where member perceptions of possible repercussions and the requirement to conform within acceptable boundaries results in fear of making a decision. In their study, Jovita and Nurmandi (2018) described this phenomenon as bureaucratic inertia. Members exhibiting bureaucratic inertia fear making mistakes that violate what they perceive as a decision outside acceptable organizational boundaries. This phenomenon results in ineffective decision making (Jovita and Nurmandi, 2018). Most of the study participants described how the culture of bureaucratic organizations in emergency management resulted in some degree of bureaucratic inertia. They explained how the perceived consequences of the organization's bureaucratic cultural norms resulted in ineffective decision-making. Specifically, a member's fear of repercussions contributed to their inability to make effective or any decisions during catastrophic incidents.

A culture where member's fears of repercussions result in solutions with a basis in what is acceptable to cultural norms and lack member discretionary decision-making can result in degraded response operations during a catastrophic incident (Jung et al. 2018; Jin & Song (2017). As some participants indicated, emergency management leaders must overcome their fear of being fired for making a mistake and exercise a leadership style conducive to effective member problem solving.

As previously indicated in the literature review, bureaucratic organizational culture limits organizational adaptability and members' ability to exercise adaptive responses, negatively influencing response operations in a catastrophic incident (See Jin & Song, 2017; Jin et al., 2018; Takeda & Helms, 2006a, 2006b). All participants described how the culture of the organization influences member actions. Left unchecked, a bureaucratic structure can limit adaptive responses and constrain decision

making. The emergency management leader has the burden to establish a culture to mitigate the limiting effects of bureaucracy. Participants indicated one role of an emergency management leader is to shape a culture that facilitates adaptive member responses and proactiveness within a no-fault environment to enable successful organizational outcomes.

Member Experience Influences Successful Outcomes

All the participants, except one, had many years of experience in emergency management. Many of the leadership challenges identified in the literature can be moderated by emergency management leader's level of experience (see Cutter, 2019, Harrald, 2020, Light 2011, Roberts et al., 2020). The effect of a member's previous experienced responding to catastrophic incidents had on facilitating successful outcomes during future ones was a dominant theme for many participants. Emergency management experience was not only a factor from an operational aspect. Some participants indicated that member experience also provided a mechanism to navigate bureaucratic challenges better when confronted.

Complexity Leadership Conceptual Framework

When applied to the emergency management leader's ecosystem, the complexity leadership conceptual framework provides a mechanism to examine the study findings from a leadership and organizational systems approach. The framework suggests organizational adaptability results from two components of leadership, entrepreneurial (innovation) and operational (process, control), coming into conflict when under external pressure (Uhl-Bien, 2021, Uhl-Bien & Arena, 2018). This conflict results in system disequilibrium. The resulting tension requires leadership to balance a move toward bureaucratic control processes and the need for potential adaptive solutions to solve confronted challenges (Uhl-Bien, 2021, Uhl-Bien & Arena's 2018). The emergence of viable adaptive potential solutions results from leadership's management of tension toward an adaptive response (Uhl-Bien, 2021, Uhl-Bien & Arena's 2018).

The study findings suggest that the organizational system influenced by the emergency management leader, when faced with an external pressure associated with the effects of a catastrophic incident, adapts to meet the novel challenges confronted. The study's findings indicate that an emergency management leader manages the emergency management organizational system to achieve successful operational outcomes by exercising both operational and entrepreneurial leadership. The conflict resulting from the pressure exerted on the system results in the emergence of adaptive responses. Participants indicated that the mechanisms for control characteristic of operational leadership provided a framework for routine and catastrophic incidents. The pressure on the system from the effects of a catastrophic incident resulted in conflict between operational leadership that sufficed for routine operations and the need for emergency management leaders to exercise entrepreneurial leadership necessary for catastrophic incidents. The emergence of novel solutions, including some bureaucratic processes, resulted in adaptive responses. The adaptive responses included modified organizational structures, plans, or processes.

The findings also suggest ineffective management of the bureaucratic and adaptive response equilibrium by emergency management leaders focused on increased

121

reliance on bureaucratic mechanisms for control associated with rigid structures or processes that impeded the organization's ability to achieve successful outcomes in a catastrophic incident. For example, emergency management organizations that were unable to modify bureaucratic processes were challenged to achieve successful results during a catastrophic incident associated with COVID-19 because they relied on bureaucratic processes to deal with the novel effects of a catastrophic incident. Emergency management leaders were unable to create an environment that successfully exercised entrepreneurial leadership with operational leadership for adaptive responses to emerge.

Limitations of the Study

The study is not without limitations. First, the study sample population is limited to emergency management leaders operating in the Southeastern United States who have led or supported response operations during a catastrophic incident within the last five years. Because of the unique operational environment selected and sample size, the study findings will not be generalizable to other emergency management leaders in different areas of the country. Second, because all the participants identified as White, there is no racial diversity among study participants. The lack of diversity limits the study by not exploring how race may have influenced the lived experiences of emergency management leaders during a catastrophic incident.

An IPA research methodology has also been criticized for what are perceived to be limitations of this research approach. First, researchers have called into question whether the ability of the study participant and the researcher to effectively communicate experiences with the requisite detail to truly understand the meaning of the experience conveyed (Willig, 2013). As Tuffour (2017) suggests, this limitation was overcome in this study by increased diligence in collecting rich and detailed information from study participants.

Recommendations

The study's purposeful sample population was twelve emergency management leaders operating in the Southeastern United States who have led or supported response operations during a catastrophic incident. Future research should be considered with replicating this study to a larger sample population from multiple regions of the United States to increase understanding of the differences or similarities in the experiences of emergency management leaders. The increased sample size could also contribute to the transferability of the study findings.

All study participants identified as White in this study. A participant's race could influence their experiences and subsequent interpretation of those lived experiences (Boehme et al., 2022; Chenane, et al., 2020; Jamieson et al., 2020; Joselyne et al., 2004; Wright & Gibson, 2020). Increasing the diversity of the sample size could provide an increased understanding of whether a participant's race affects their experiences in relation to the phenomena. Future research should include replicating the study with a more diverse sample of participants.

Future research could further this study's findings by using a quantitative approach. A qualitative approach will test relationships between defined variables (Bloomfield & Fisher, 2019). Qualitative research is designed to make an "inference

about the larger population" (p. 24), based on a representative sample using a random sampling technique (Fisher & Bloomfield, 2019). A quantitative approach uses scientific methods to facilitate research objectivity (Davies & Fisher, 2018). Using a quantitative approach could further increase understanding of the study topic by (a) testing the relationship between bureaucratic structures and emergency management leaders ability to exercise adaptive decision making in catastrophic incidents, (b) supporting the generalizability of the study findings to the greater population of emergency management leaders throughout the United States, (c) not relying as heavily on researcher interaction and participant interpretation of their experiences, the approach makes research bias less of a concern.

Implications

Positive Social Change

The economic and societal costs associated with the effects of catastrophic incidents continue to grow annually (Deryugina, 2017). The United Nations Office for Disaster Risk Reduction (2020) report indicates within the last 20 years, there has been a significant increase in disasters resulting in \$1.63 trillion in economic losses. With a disproportionate impact on the disadvantaged members of our communities (Cutter, 2019). The current study increased the understanding of the limiting effects bureaucratic structures can have on emergency management leaders confronted with complex catastrophic incidents. The study participants shared how emergency management leaders must mitigate the influence on bureaucratic structures during catastrophic incidents and understand the mechanisms that enable them to do so. The participants shared experiences confirmed and extended the current research by exploring how these mechanisms are exercised to enable adaptive responses needed for positive response outcomes resulting in a reduction in the number of lives lost and economic severity from the effects of catastrophic incidents. As emergency management leaders more effectively mitigate bureaucratic processes and obtain more effective response outcomes, community resilience is positively impacted.

Practice Implications

The study findings provide emergency management practitioners with an increased understanding of the relationship between bureaucratic structures, adaptive responses, and catastrophic incidents. The study findings identified suggest some practical applications for emergency management practitioners, including:

- Emergency management leaders should participate in catastrophic incidentspecific training to mitigate the lack of experience in responding to catastrophic incidents some emergency management leaders may have. Training should include classroom, Tabletop Exercises (TTX), and Full-Scale Exercises (FSE). Participants should consist of internal and external stakeholders to be part of the training. Exercise design, development, and execution should overwhelm organizational capabilities to the point of failure.
- Training for emergency management leaders on emergency management stakeholder identification and cultivation. Specific emphasis would be placed on the practical application, including stakeholder identification and engagement. Training emphasis would be on the internal and external

stakeholders within the emergency management leader's area of responsibility.

- 3. Emergency management leaders should participate in training designed to increase their understanding of organizational culture's effect on response operations. The training modules should include practical exercises that explore the relationship between bureaucratic structures, adaptive responses, and catastrophic incidents. Training should consider strategies to overcome the challenges discussed in this study and how organizational culture can mitigate those challenges.
- 4. Increase the opportunities for emergency management leaders with minimal experience to be mentored by more senior emergency management leaders to facilitate the exchange of explicit and tacit knowledge critical for responding to a catastrophic incident.

Theoretical Implications

CLT informed the conceptual framework for this study. CLT considers how leadership is exercised in complex adaptive systems (Uhl-Bien & Arena, 2018). The emergency management system representative of the characteristics associated with a complex adaptive system (Uhl-Bien & Arena, 2018). The study was significant to theory in two ways. First, the study findings advance CLT research by increasing the understanding of the relationship between bureaucratic structures and emergency management leader's understanding of how to exercise adaptive responses in catastrophic incidents. Second, applying a complexity leadership theoretical lens to explore the phenomena within the emergency management domain advances the understanding of the influence complexity leadership theory could have on emergency management leader's knowledge of how to exercise adaptive responses in the context of a catastrophic incident.

Conclusions

Although the current body of literature has explored the influence of bureaucratic structures on organizational and member adaptability, it has not considered how emergency management leaders navigate the organizational bureaucracy to overcome its limiting effects. Emergency management leaders are responsible for coordinating the response to catastrophic incidents in an operational environment where the tension between the need to exercise adaptive responses and inherent bureaucratic processes for control is a common phenomenon. Understanding how to balance the need to mitigate the influence of bureaucratic procedures and exercise adaptive responses during a catastrophic incident is critical to achieving successful outcomes.

The study explored the lived experiences of emergency management leaders who addressed bureaucratic processes and procedures while confronting the need to exercise adaptive responses during catastrophic incidents. The themes uncovered in this exploration included a) the effects of bureaucratic organizational structures can be a limiting factor during a catastrophic incident, b) the context of the human-caused or natural disaster influences perception, c) importance of emergency management leadership, d) relationships play a critical role in influencing outcomes in a catastrophic incident, e) bureaucratic organizational structures processes for control provide a foundation for organizational adaptability, f) a catastrophic incident forces organizational structural adaptation, g) the bureaucratic organizing culture can have a negative effect on member actions, h) organizational culture within a bureaucracy influences member adaptive responses and operational outcomes, i) member experience influences successful outcomes.

The research provided an increased understanding of emergency management leaders' experiences in an emergency management system comprised of multiple bureaucratic structures. My research goal extends the knowledge on understanding mechanisms for emergency management leaders to exercise adaptive responses and shape an environment conducive to adaptive responses. Developing training programs that transfer the knowledge of more experienced emergency managers will create an opportunity to understand better how to navigate bureaucracy during catastrophic incidents will provide a practical application of the study findings.

References

Abbasi, A., & Kapucu, N. (2016). A longitudinal study of evolving networks in response to natural disaster. *Computational and mathematical organization theory*, 22(1), 47-70. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10588-015-9196-7

Adams, T., & Stewart, L. (2015). Chaos theory and organizational crisis: A theoretical analysis of the challenges faced by the New Orleans police department during Hurricane Katrina. *Public Organization Review*, *15*(3), 415-431. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11115-014-0284-9

- Alase, A. (2017). The interpretative phenomenological analysis (IPA): A guide to a good qualitative research approach. *International Journal of Education & Literacy Studies*, 5(2), 9-19. https://doi.org/10.7575/aiac.ijels.v.5n.2p.9
- Albanese, J., & Paturas, J. (2018). The importance of critical thinking skills in disaster management. *Journal of Business Continuity & Emergency Planning*, *11*(4), 326-334. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-7717.2012.01291.x
- Alexander, D. (2018). A magnitude scale for cascading disasters. *International Journal of Disaster Risk Reduction*. 30, 180-185. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijdrr.2018.03.006</u>
- Allan, R., & Eatough, V. (2016). The use of interpretive phenomenological analysis in couple and family therapy research. *The Family Journal*, 24(4), 406–414. https://doi.org/10.1177/1066480716662652
- Amankwaa, L. (2016). Creating Protocols for Trustworthiness in Qualitative Research. Journal of Cultural Diversity, 23(3), 121–127.

- Amernic, J., & Craig, R. (2017). CEO speeches and safety culture: British Petroleum before the Deepwater Horizon disaster. *Critical perspectives on accounting*, 47, 61-80. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpa.2016.11.004
- Andrew, S. A., Arlikatti, S., Chatterjee, V., & Ismayilov, O. (2018). Ebola crisis response in the USA: Communication management and SOPs. *International Journal of Disaster Risk Reduction*, 31, 243-250. https://doi.org/10.15171/ijhpm.2017.104
- Ansell, C., & Boin, A. (2017). Taming deep uncertainty: The potential of pragmatist principles for understanding and improving strategic crisis management.
 Administration & Society, 51(7), https://doi.org/10.1177/0095399717747655
- Ansell, C., Sørensen, E., & Torfing, J. (2020). The COVID-19 pandemic as a game changer for public administration and leadership? The need for robust governance responses to turbulent problems. *Public Management Review*, 1-12. https://doi.org/10.1080/14719037.2020.1820272
- Aspers, P., & Corte, U. (2019). What is qualitative in qualitative research. *Qualitative Sociology*, *42*(2), 139-160. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11133-019-9413-7
- Baker, S.E., & Edwards, R. (2012) How many qualitative interviews is enough? Expert voices and early career reflections on sampling and cases in qualitative research. *National Centre for Research Methods Review Paper*. https://eprints.soton.ac.uk/336913
- Bănică, A., Kourtit, K. & Nijkamp, P. (2020) Natural disasters as a development opportunity: a spatial economic resilience interpretation. *Review of Reginal Research.* 40(1), 67-105. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10037-020-00141-8

- Bier, V. (2006). Hurricane Katrina as a bureaucratic nightmare. In R. J. Daniels, D. F. Kettl, and H. Kunreuther (Eds.), *On risk and disaster: Lessons from Hurricane Katrina* (pp. 243-254). University of Pennsylvania Press.
- Bloomfield, J., & Fisher, M. J. (2019). Quantitative research design. Journal of the Australasian Rehabilitation Nurses Association, 22(2), 27-30. https://doi.org/10.33235/jarma.22.2.27-30
- Boin, A., Brown, C., & Richardson, J.A. (2019). Managing Hurricane Katrina: Lessons from a Megacrisis. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press.
- Boehme, H.M., Cann, D., & Isom, D. A. (2022). Citizens' perceptions of over-and underpolicing: A look at race, ethnicity, and community characteristics. *Crime & Delinquency*, 68(1), 123-154. https://doi.org/10.1177/0011128720974309
- Brocki, J. M., & Wearden, A. J. (2006). A critical evaluation of the use of interpretative phenomenological analysis (IPA) in health psychology. *Psychology and Health*, 21(1), 87-108. https://doi.org/10.1080/14768320500230185
- Brod, M., Tesler, L. E., & Christensen, T. L. (2009). Qualitative research and content validity: Developing best practices based on science and experience. *Quality of Life Research, 18*(9), 1263-78. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11136-009-9540-9
- Broska, L. H., Poganietz, W. R., & Vögele, S. (2020). Extreme events defined—A conceptual discussion applying a complex systems approach. *Futures*, 115. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.futures.2019.102490
- Brouillette, J. R., & Quarantelli, E. L. (1971). Types of patterned variation in bureaucratic adaptations to organizational stress. *Sociological Inquiry*, *41*(1), 39-
46. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1475-682X.1971.tb01198.x

- Brown, B., (2011). Complexity Leadership: An overview and key limitations. *Integral Leadership Review*, 11(5), 1-15.
- Byrne, M. M. (2001). Evaluating the findings of qualitative research: The official voice of perioperative nursing the official voice of perioperative nursing. *AORN Journal*, 73(3), 703-6.
- Cairns, T. D. (2017). Emergency-Management planning and leadership are critical to business performance. *Employment Relations Today*, 44(1), 5–13. doi: https://doi.org/10.1002/ert.21609
- Cantin, R., Trego, K., & Sligh, K. (2017). Effective incident response leadership:
 Today's challenges and complexities. *Coast Guard Journal of Safety & Security* at Sea, Proceedings of the Marine Safety & Security Council, 74(2). 108-109.
- Carlson, E. J., Poole, M. S., Lambert, N. J., & Lammers, J. C. (2017). A study of organizational responses to dilemmas in interorganizational emergency management. *Communication Research*, 44(2), 287-315. https://doi.org/10.1177/0093650215621775
- Chan, Z. C., Fung, Y. L., & Chien, W. T. (2013). Bracketing in phenomenology: Only undertaken in the data collection and analysis process. *The qualitative report*, *18*(30), 1-9.
- Chen, W., Zhang, H., Comfort, L. K., & Tao, Z. (2020). Exploring complex adaptive networks in the aftermath of the 2008 Wenchuan earthquake in China. *Safety Science*, 125. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssci.2020.104607

- Chenane, J., Wright, E., & Gibson C., (2020) Traffic stops, race, and perceptions of fairness, *Policing and Society*, 30(6), 720-737. https://doi.org/10.1080/10439463.2019.1587436
- Christensen, T., Laegreid, P., & Rykkja, L. H. (2016). Organizing for crisis management: Building governance capacity and legitimacy. *Public Administration Review*, 76(6), 887-897. https://doi.org/10.1111/puar.12558
- Comfort, L. K. (2007). Crisis management in hindsight: Cognition, communication, coordination, and control. *Public Administration Review*, 189–197.
- Comfort, L. K., Haase, T. W., Ertan, G., & Scheinert, S. R. (2019). The dynamics of change following extreme events: Transition, scale, and adaptation in systems under stress. *Administration & Society*.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0095399719869991

- Connelly, L. M. (2016). Trustworthiness in qualitative research. *Medsurg Nursing*, 25(6), 435-436.
- Cope, D. G, (2014). Methods and meanings: Credibility and trustworthiness of qualitative research. *Oncology Nursing Forum*, *41*(1), 89-91.
- Creswell, J. W., Hanson, W. E., Clark Plano, V. L., & Morales, A. (2007). Qualitative research designs: Selection and implementation. *The counseling psychologist*, 35(2), 236-264. https://doi.org/10.1177/0011000006287390
- Cutter, S. L. (2019). Tipping points in policy and practice. In Rubin, C. B., & Cutter, S. L. (Eds.). US *Emergency Management in the 21st Century: From Disaster to Catastrophe*. (pp. 11-36). New York: Routledge.

- Davies, C., & Fisher, M. (2018). Understanding research paradigms. Journal of the Australasian Rehabilitation Nurses Association, 21(3), 21-25. https://doi.org/10.3316/informit.160174725752074
- Demiroz, F., & Kapucu, N. (2012). The role of leadership in managing emergencies and disasters. *European Journal of Economic & Political Studies*, *5*(1), 91–101.
- Denham, M. A., & Baker, N. (2019). Hurricane Harvey unstrapped: Experiencing adaptive tensions on the edge of chaos. WIT Transactions on The Built Environment, 190, 1-18. https://doi.org/0.2495/DMAN190011
- Deryugina, T. (2017). The fiscal cost of hurricanes: Disaster aid versus social insurance. *American Economic Journal: Economic Policy*, 9(3), 168-98. https://doi.org/10.1257/pol.20140296
- Dodgson, J. E. (2019). Reflexivity in qualitative research. *Journal of Human Lactation*, 35(2), 220–222. https://doi.org/10.1177/0890334419830990
- Dos Santos, L. M. (2020). Becoming university language teachers in South Korea: The application of the Interpretative Phenomenological Analysis and Social Cognitive Career Theory. *Journal of Education and e-Learning Research*, 7(3), 250-257. https://doi.org/10.20448/journal.509.2020.73.250.257
- Dynes, R. R. (1994). Community emergency planning: False assumptions and inappropriate analogies. *International journal of mass emergencies and disasters*, 12(2), 141-158.
- Dynes, R. R., & Aguirre, B. E. (1979). Organizational adaptation to crises: Mechanisms of coordination and structural change. *Disasters*, *3*(1), 71-74.

https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-7717.1979.tb00200.x

- Dynes, R. R., & Quarantelli, E. L. (1977). Different types of organizations in disaster responses and their operational problems. University of Delaware, Disaster Research Center. 44.
- Ellis, P. (2019). The language of research (part 20): Understanding the quality of a qualitative paper (2). *Wounds UK*, *15*(1), 110–111.
- Engward, H., & Goldspink, S. (2020). Lodgers in the house: living with the data in interpretive phenomenological analysis research. Reflective Practice, 21(1), 41-53. https://doi.org/10.1080/14623943.2019.1708305
- Farber, D. (2018). Response and recovery after maria: Lessons for disaster law and policy. UC Berkeley.
- Farquhar, J., Michels, N., & Robson, J. (2020). Triangulation in industrial qualitative case study research: Widening the scope. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 87, 160–170. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2020.02.001
- Fisher, M. J., & Bloomfield, J. (2019). Understanding the research process. Journal of the Australasian Rehabilitation Nurses Association, 22(1), 22-27. https://doi.org/10.33235/jama.22.1.22-27
- Fusch, P. I., & Ness, L. R. (2015). Are we there yet? Data saturation in qualitative research. *The Qualitative Report*, 20(9), 1408-1416.
- Geir, M., (2016) Leadership in extreme contexts: Transformational leadership, performance beyond expectations? *Journal of Leadership & Organizational Studies*, 23(3), 71-90. https://doi.org/10.1177/1548051815627359

- Gil-Garcia, J., Pardo, T., & Sayogo, D. (2016). From bureaucratic machines to interorganizational networks: Characterizing the response to the World Trade Center crisis. *Transforming Government: People, Process and Policy, 10*(4), 568–590. https://doi.org/ 10.1108/TG-02-2016-0011
- Glover, J., Rainwater, K., Jones, G., & Friedman, H. (2002). Adaptive leadership (part two): Four principles for being adaptive. *Organization Development Journal*, 20(4), 18.
- Glover, J., Friedman, H., & Jones, G. (2002). Adaptive leadership: When change is not enough (part one). Organization Development Journal, 20(2), 15.
- Guba, E. G. (1981). Criteria for assessing the trustworthiness of naturalistic inquiries. *Ectj*, 29(2), 75.
- Guest, G., Bunce, A., & Johnson, L. (2006). How many interviews are enough? An experiment with data saturation and variability. *Field Methods*, 18(1), 59–82. https://doi.org/10.1177/1525822X05279903
- Hall, R. H. (1963). The concept of bureaucracy: An empirical assessment. American Journal of Sociology, 69(1), 32–40. https://doi.org/10.1086/223508
- Hannah, S.T., Uhl-Bien, M., Avolio, B.J. & Cavarretta, F.L. (2009). A framework for examining leadership in extreme contexts. *Leadership Quarterly*, 20, 897-919. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2009.09.006
- Harrald, J. H., (2020). The evolving federal role in emergency management policies and processes. In Rubin, C. B., (Ed.), *Emergency Management: The American Experience*. (pp. 239-266). New York: Routledge.

- Heotis, E. (2020). Phenomenological research methods: Extensions of Husserl and
 Heidegger. *International Journal of School and Cognitive Psychology*, 7, 221. 13.
- Hodges, L. (2018). The quantum physics of emergency management. *Journal of Business Continuity & Emergency Planning, 12*(2), 150–157.
- Houghton, C., Dympna, C., Shaw, D., & Murphy, K. (2013). Rigor in qualitative casestudy research. *Nurse Researcher*, *20*(4), 12-7.
- Howitt, A. M., Leonard, H. B., & Giles, D. W. (2017). Leadership in routine emergencies and crises: The Deepwater Horizon incident. *Coast Guard Journal of Safety & Security at Sea, Proceedings of the Marine Safety & Security Council, 74*(2). 108–115.
- Jamieson, T., Caldwell, D., Gomez-Aguinaga, B., & Doña-Reveco, C. (2021). Race, ethnicity, nativity and perceptions of health risk during the COVID-19 pandemic in the US. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *18*(21), https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph182111113
- Jiang, Y., & Yuan, Y. (2019). Emergency logistics in a large-scale disaster context: Achievements and challenges. *International Journal of Environmental Research* and Public Health, 16(5) https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph16050779
- Jin, J., & Song, G. (2017). Bureaucratic accountability and disaster response: Why did the korea coast guard fail in its rescue mission during the Sewol ferry accident?. *Risk, Hazards & Crisis in Public Policy, 8*(3), 220-243. https://doi.org/10.1002/rhc3.12115

- Johannessen, S. (2017). Strategies, leadership and complexity in crisis and emergency operations. New York, NY: Routledge.
- Jong, W., Dückers, M. L. A., & Velden, P. G. (2016). Leadership of mayors and governors during crises: A systematic review on tasks and effectiveness. *Journal* of Contingencies & Crisis Management, 24(1), 46–58. https://doi.org/10/.1111/1468-5973.12091
- Joselyne, C., Wright, E., & Gibson, C. (2020). Traffic stops, race, and perceptions of fairness, *Policing and Society*, 30(6), 720-737, https://doi.org/:10.1080/10439463.2019.1587436
- Jovita H., Nurmandi A. (2018) Bureaucratic Inertia. In: Farazmand A. (eds) Global Encyclopedia of Public Administration, Public Policy, and Governance. Springer, Cham, Switzerland. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-31816-5_692-1
- Jung, K., Song, M., & Han, W. P. (2018). Filling the gap between bureaucratic and adaptive approaches to crisis management: Lessons from the Sewol ferry sinking in South Korea. *Quality and Quantity*, 52(1), 277-294. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11135-017-0467
- Jung, K., Song, M., & Park, H. J. (2019). The dynamics of an interorganizational emergency management network: Interdependent and independent risk hypotheses. *Public Administration Review*, 79(2), 225–235. https://doi.org/10.1111/puar.12993
- Kapucu, N., & Demiroz, F. (2017). Interorganizational networks in disaster management. In Social Network Analysis of Disaster Response, Recovery, and Adaptation (pp.

25-39). Oxford, England: Butterworth-Heinemann.

- Kapucu, N., Garayev, V. (2011). Collaborative decision-making in emergency and disaster management. *International Journal of Public Administration*, 34(6), 366-375. https://doi.org/10.1080/01900692.2011.561477
- Kapucu, N., & Garayev, V. (2013). Designing, managing, and sustaining functionally collaborative emergency management networks. *The American Review of Public Administration*, 43(3), 312–330. https://doi.org/10.1177/0275074012444719
- Kapucu, N., & Garayev, V. (2016). Structure and network performance: Horizontal and vertical networks in emergency management. *Administration & Society*, 48(8), 931-961. https://doi.org/10.1177/0095399714541270
- Kapucu, N., & Hu, Q. (2016). Understanding multiplexity of collaborative emergency management networks. *The American Review of Public Administration*, 46(4), 399-417. https://doi.org/10.1177/0275074014555645
- Kapucu, N., & Ustun, Y. (2018). Collaborative crisis management and leadership in the public sector. *International Journal of Public Administration*, 41(7), 548–561. https://doi.org/10.1080/01900692.2017.1280819
- Kapucu, N., & Van Wart, M. (2008). Making matters worse: An anatomy of leadership failures in managing catastrophic events. *Administration & Society*, 40(7), 711-740. https://doi.org/10.1177/0095399708323143
- Kapucu, N., & Van Wart, M. V. (2006). The evolving role of the public sector in managing catastrophic disasters: lessons learned. *Administration & Society, 3*, 279. https://doi.org/10.1177/0095399706289718

Kapucu, N., Arslan, T., & Demiroz, F. (2010). Collaborative emergency management and national emergency management network. *Disaster Prevention and Management*, 19(4), 452–468. https://doi.org/10.1108/09653561011070376

Kekeya, J. (2021). Qualitative case study research design: the commonalities and differences between collective, intrinsic and instrumental case studies. *Contemporary PNG Studies, 36*, 28–37.

- Koliba, C. J., Mills, R. M., & Zia, A. (2011). Accountability in governance networks: An assessment of public, private, and nonprofit emergency management practices following Hurricane Katrina. *Public Administration Review*, *71*(2), 210–220. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-6210.2011.02332.x
- Kontogiannis, T., & Malakis, S. (2020). A polycentric control analysis of emergency responses: an application to a wildfire case. *Safety science*, *128*, 1-13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssci.2020.104776.
- Korstjens, I. & Moser, A. (2017). Series: Practical guidance to qualitative research. Part
 4: Trustworthiness and publishing. *European Journal of General Practice, 24* (1), 120-124. https://doi.org/10.1080/13814788.2017.1375092
- Kreps, G. A., & Bosworth, S. L. (2007). Organizational adaptation to disaster. In Handbook of disaster research (pp. 297-315). Springer, New York, NY.

Larkin, M., Shaw, R., & Flowers, P. (2019). Multiperspectival designs and processes in interpretative phenomenological analysis research. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 16(2), 182-198. https://doi.org/10.1080/14780887.2018.1540655

Laverty, S. M. (2003). Hermeneutic phenomenology and phenomenology: A comparison

of historical and methodological considerations. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 2(3), 21-35. https://doi.org/10.1177/160940690300200303

- Leonard, H. B., & Howitt, A. M. (2012). Leading in crisis: Observations on the political and decision-making dimensions response. In. Helsloot, B. Jacobs, B. & Boin, A. *Mega-Crises. Understanding the Prospects, Nature, Characteristics and the Effects of the Cataclysmic Events* (pp. 25-34). Springfield, Illinois. Charles C. Thomas
- Lichtenstein, B. B., & Plowman, D. A. (2009). The leadership of emergence: A complex systems leadership theory of emergence at successive organizational levels. *The Leadership Quarterly, 20*(4), 617–630.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2009.04.006

- Light, P., (2011) *Thickening government: The federal hierarchy and the delusion of accountability*. Washington, D.C. Brookings Institution Press
- Linnenluecke, M. K., & McKnight, B. (2017). Community resilience to natural disasters: the role of disaster entrepreneurship. *Journal of Enterprising Communities: People and Places in the Global Economy.* 11(1) 166-185. https://doi.org/10.1108/JEC-10-2015-0005

Love, B., Vetere, A., & Davis, P. (2020). Should Interpretative Phenomenological Analysis (IPA) be used with focus groups? Navigating the bumpy road of "iterative loops," idiographic journeys, and "phenomenological bridges." *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*. 19, 1-17. https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406920921600

- MacDougall, C., & Fudge, E. (2001). Planning and recruiting the sample for focus groups and in-depth interviews. *Qualitative health research*, 11(1), 117-126. https://doi.org/10.1177/104973201129118975
- Madanchian, M., Hussein, N., Noordin, & Taherdoost, H., (2017). Leadership effectiveness measurement and its effect on organization outcomes. *Procedia Engineering*, 181, 1043-1048. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.proeng.2017.02.505
- Marcum, C. S., Bevc, C. A., & Butts, C. T. (2012). Mechanisms of control in emergent interorganizational networks. *Policy Studies Journal*, *40*(3), 516-546.
- Marion, R., & Uhl-Bien, M. (2001). Leadership in complex organizations. The Leadership Quarterly, 12(4), 389. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1048-9843(01)00092-3
- Marion, R., & Uhl-Bien, M. (2008). Complexity leadership part 1: Conceptual foundations. Charlotte, North Carolina: Information Age Publishing.
- Martela, F. (2019). What makes self-managing organizations novel? Comparing how
 Weberian bureaucracy, Mintzberg's adhocracy, and self-organizing solve six
 fundamental problems of organizing. *Journal of Organization Design*, 8(1), 1–23.
 https://doi.org/10.1186/s41469-019-0062-9
- Mason, M. (2010). Sample size and saturation in PhD studies using qualitative interviews. Forum: Qualitative Social Research, 11(3), 1-19.
- Matua, G. A., & Van Der Wal, Dirk Mostert. (2015). Differentiating between descriptive and interpretive phenomenological research approaches. *Nurse Researcher*, 22(6), https://doi.org/10.7748/nr.22.6.22.e1344

- McDaniel, R. R., Jr. (2007). Management strategies for complex adaptive systems: Sensemaking, learning, and improvisation. *Performance Improvement Quarterly*, 20(2), 21–41. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1937-8327.2007.tb00438.x
- Menzel, D. C. (2006). The Katrina aftermath: A failure of federalism or leadership? *Public Administration Review*, 66(6), 808–812. doi: 10.1111/j.1540-6210.2006.00649.x
- McPhillips, L. E., Chang, H., Chester, M. V., Depietri, Y., Friedman, E., Grimm, N. B.,
 & Shafiei Shiva, J. (2018). Defining extreme events: A cross-disciplinary review. *Earth's Future*, 6(3), 441-455. https://doi.org/10.1002/2017ef000686
- Miller, R. M., Chan, C. D., & Farmer, L. B. (2018). Interpretative Phenomenological Analysis: A Contemporary Qualitative Approach. *Counselor Education & Supervision*, 57(4), 240–254. https://doi.org/10.1002/ceas.12114

Moran, D. (2002). Introduction to phenomenology. London, UK, Routledge.

- Moynihan, D. P. (2008a). Combining Structural Forms in the Search for Policy Tools:
 Incident Command Systems in U.S. *Crisis Management. Governance*, 21(2), 205–229. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-0491.2008.00395.x
- Moynihan, D.P. (2008b), Learning under uncertainty: networks in crisis management, *Public Administration Review*, 68(2), pp. 350-61.
- Moynihan, D. P. (2012). A theory of culture-switching: Leadership and red-tape during Hurricane Katrina. *Public Administration*, 90(4), 851–868. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9299.2011.02017.x
- Murphy, J., Rhodes, M. L., Meek, J. W., & Denyer, D. (2017). Managing the

entanglement: Complexity leadership in public sector systems. Public

Administration Review, 77(5), 692–704. https://doi.org/10.1111/puar.12698

- Nohrstedt, D. (2016). Explaining mobilization and performance of collaborations in routine emergency management. *Administration & Society*, 48(2), 135–162. https://doi.org/10.1177/0095399712473983
- Noon, E. J. (2018). Interpretive phenomenological analysis: An appropriate methodology for educational research. *Journal of Perspectives in Applied Academic Practice Vol, 6*(1), 75-83.
- Northouse, P. G. (2018). *Leadership: Theory and practice* (8th ed.). Thousand Oaks: SAGE. Chicago
- Nowell, B., Steelman, T., Velez, A. L. K., & Yang, Z. (2018). The structure of effective governance of disaster response networks: Insights from the field. The American *Review of Public Administration*, 48(7), 699-715. https://doi.org/10.1177/0275074017724225

https://doi.org/10.1177/0275074017724225

- Oh, N., & Lee, J. (2020). Changing landscape of emergency management research: A systematic review with bibliometric analysis. *International Journal of Disaster Risk Reduction*, 49, 1-12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijdrr.2020.101658
- O'Halloran, L., Littlewood, M., Richardson, D., Tod, D., & Nesti, M. (2018) Doing descriptive phenomenological data collection in sport psychology research, *Sport in Society*, 21(2), 302-313, https://doi.org/10.1080/17430437.2016.1159199
- Ortlipp, M. (2008). Keeping and using reflective journals in the qualitative research process. *The qualitative report, 13*(4), 695-705. https://doi.org/10.1.1.474.4860

O'Toole, L. (2003). Interorganizational relations in implementation. In B. G. Peters & J. Pierre Handbook of public administration (pp. 234-244). London: SAGE Publications Ltd https://doi.org/10.4135/9781848608214.n19

Parker, C. F., Nohrstedt, D., Baird, J., Hermansson, H., Rubin, O., & Baekkeskov, E. (2020). Collaborative crisis management: a plausibility probe of core assumptions. *Policy and Society*, 1-20. https://doi.org/10.1080/14494035.2020.1767337

- Paterson, M., & Higgs, J. (2005). Using hermeneutics as a qualitative research approach in professional practice. *The Qualitative Report, 10*(2), 339-357.
- Pathak V, Jena B, Kalra S. *Qualitative research. Perspect clin res. 2013;4*(3):192. https://doi.org/10.4103/2229-3485.115389

Patrick, D. L., Burke, L. B., Gwaltney, C. J., Leidy, N. K., Martin, M. L., Molsen, E., & Ring, L. (2011). Content validity—establishing and reporting the evidence in newly developed patient-reported outcomes (PRO) instruments for medical product evaluation: ISPOR PRO Good Research Practices Task Force report: part 2—assessing respondent understanding. *Value in Health*, *14*(8), 978-988. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jval.2011.06.013

Paturas, J. L., Smith, S. R., Albanese, J., & Waite, G. (2016). Inter-organizational response to disasters. *Journal of Business Continuity & Emergency Planning*, 9(4), 346–358.

- Peus, C., Braun, S., & Frey, D. (2013). Situation-based measurement of the full range of leadership model—Development and validation of a situational judgment test. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 24(5), 777-795.
- Peat, G., Rodriguez, A., & Smith, J. (2019). Interpretive phenomenological analysis applied to healthcare research. *Evidence - Based Nursing*, 22(1), 7. https://doi.org/10.1136/ebnurs-2018-103017
- Pietkiewicz, I., & Smith, J. A. (2014). A practical guide to using interpretative phenomenological analysis in qualitative research psychology. *Psychological Journal*, 20(1), 7-14. https://doi.org/10.14691/CPPJ.20.1.7
- Ponterotto, J. G. (2006). Brief Note on the Origins, Evolution, and Meaning of the Qualitative Research Concept "Thick Description." *Qualitative Report, 11*(3), 538–549.
- Quarantelli E.L., Boin A., & Lagadec P. (2018) Studying future disasters and crises: A heuristic approach. In: Rodríguez H., Donner W., Trainor J. (eds) Handbook of Disaster Research. Handbooks of Sociology and Social Research. Springer, Cham
- Reiners, G. M. (2012). Understanding the differences between Husserl's (descriptive) and Heidegger's (interpretive) phenomenological research. *Journal of Nursing & Care, 1*(5), 1-3. https://doi.org/10.4172/2167-1168.1000119
- Resodihardjo, S. L., Van Genugten, M., & Ruiter, M. N. (2018). A theoretical exploration of resilience and effectiveness requirements' compatibility in formal and permanent emergency networks. *Safety Science*, 101, 164-172. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssci.2017.07.004

- Rethemeyer, R. K., & Hatmaker, D. M. (2008). Network Management Reconsidered: An Inquiry into Management of Network Structures in Public Sector Service Provision. *Journal of Public Administration Research & Theory, 18*(4), 617–646. https://doi.org/10.1093/jopart/mum027
- Rivera, J. D. (2014). Resistance to change: Understanding why disaster response and recovery institutions are set in their ways. *Journal of Critical Incident Analysis*, 4(1), 44-65.
- Rivera, J. D. (2016). Organizational structure and collaboration: Emergency management agencies and their choice to work with voluntary organizations in planning. *Risk, Hazards & Crisis in Public Policy, 7*(4), 160–175. https://doi.org/10.1002/rhc3.12105
- Rivera, J. D., & Landahl, M. R. (2019). An environment conducive to bureaucratic innovation?: Exploring the potential for public entrepreneurship within FEMA. *Journal of Urban Management*, 8(2), 272-281. https://doi.org/10.10.1016/j.jum.2019.03.001
- Roberts, P. S., Glick, J. A., & Wamsley, J. (2020). The evolving federal role in emergency management policies and processes. In Rubin, C. B., (Ed.), *Emergency Management: The American Experience*. (pp. 239-266). New York: Routledge.
- Robinson, S. E., Eller, W. S., Gall, M., & Gerber, B. J. (2013). The core and periphery of emergency management networks. *Public Management Review*, 15(3), 344-362. https://doi.org/10.1080/14719037.2013.769849

Rodríguez-Espíndola, O., Albores, P., & Brewster, C., (2018). Decision-making and operations in disasters: challenges and opportunities. *International Journal of Operations & Production Management*, 38(10), 1964-1986.
https://doi.org/10.1108/IJOPM-03-2017-0151

Rosenhead, J., Franco, L. A., Grint, K., & Friedland, B. (2019). Complexity theory and leadership practice: A review, a critique, and some recommendations. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 30(5), 101304.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2019.07.002

- Sager, F., & Rosser, C. (2009). Weber, Wilson, and Hegel: Theories of modern bureaucracy. *Public Administration Review*, 69(6), 1136-1147.
- Sandelowski, M. (1986). The problem of rigor in qualitative research. Advances in *Nursing Science*, 8(3), 27–37. https://doi.org/10.1097/00012272-198604000-00005.
- Sawalha, I. H. (2018). In search of the causes of disasters. *International Journal of Emergency Services*, 7(2), 86–99. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJES-08-2017-0046
- Schmidt, A., Wolbers, J., Ferguson, J., & Boersma, K. (2018). Are you Ready2Help?
 Conceptualizing the management of online and onsite volunteer convergence. *Journal of Contingencies & Crisis Management, 26*(3), 338–349.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/1468-5973.12200
- Schwandt, T. A., Lincoln, Y. S., & Guba, E. G. (2007). Judging interpretations: But is it rigorous? trustworthiness and authenticity in naturalistic evaluation. *New Directions for Evaluation, 2007(114)*, 11–25. https://doi.org/10.1002/ev.223

- Shenton, A. K. (2004). Strategies for ensuring trustworthiness in qualitative research projects. *Education for information*, *22*(2), 63-75. doi:10.3233/EFI-2004-22201.
- Simon, C., Steel, B., & Lovrich, N. (2018). State and local government and politics prospects for sustainability. Corvallis, WA, Oregon State University Press.
- Smith, J. A. (2017) Interpretative phenomenological analysis: Getting at lived experience, *The Journal of Positive Psychology*, 12(3), 303-304. https://doi.org/ 10.1080/17439760.2016.1262622
- Smith, A.C., Espinosa, A., & Porter, T. (2011). Sustainability, complexity and learning & colon; insights from complex systems approaches. *The Learning Organization*, 18(1), 54–72. https://doi.org/10.1108/09696471111096000
- Smith, A.B. & Matthews, J.L. (2015). Quantifying uncertainty and variable sensitivity within the US billion-dollar weather and climate disaster cost estimates. *Natural Hazards*, 77(3), 1829–1851. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11069-015-1678-x
- Smith, J. A., Flowers, P. & Larkin, M. (2009). *Interpretative phenomenological analysis: Theory, method and research.* London, UK, Sage
- Smith, J.A., Jarman, M. and Osborn, M. (1999) Doing interpretative phenomenological analysis. In: Murray, M. and Chamberlain, K., Eds., *Qualitative Health Psychology: Theories and Methods*, London, UK, Sage
- Smith, J.A., & Osborn, M. (2008) Interpretative phenomenological analysis. In: J.A.
 Smith, ed. *Qualitative psychology: a practical guide to research methods*.
 London, UK, Sage
- Smith, J. A., & Osborn, M. (2015). Interpretative phenomenological analysis as a useful

methodology for research on the lived experience of pain. *British Journal of Pain*, 9(1), 41-42. https://doi.org/10.1177/2049463714541642

- Sokolowski, R. (2000). *Introduction to phenomenology*. Cambridge, UK, Cambridge University Press.
- Stallings, R. A., & Quarantelli, E. L. (1985). Emergent citizen groups and emergency management. *Public Administration Review*, 45(Special), 93–100. https://doi.org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.2307/3135003
- Stark, A. (2014). Bureaucratic values and resilience: An exploration of crisis management adaptation. *Public Administration*, 92(3), 692-706. https://doi.org/10.1111/padm.12085
- Steigenberger, N. (2016). Organizing for the big one: A review of case studies and a research agenda for multi-agency disaster response. *Journal of Contingencies and Crisis Management*, 24(2), 60-72. doi: 10.1111/1468-5973.12106

Strandh, V., & Eklund, N. (2018). Emergent groups in disaster research: Varieties of scientific observation over time and across studies of nine natural disasters. *Journal of Contingencies & Crisis Management, 26*(3), 329–337. https://doi.org/10.1111/1468-5973.12199

- Suri, H. (2011). Purposeful sampling in qualitative research synthesis. *Qualitative Research Journal*, 11(2), 63. https://doi.org/10.3316/QRJ1102063
- Takeda, M., & Helms, M., (2006a) Bureaucracy, meet catastrophe: Analysis of Hurricane
 Katrina relief efforts and their implications for emergency response governance.
 International Journal of Public Sector Management, 19(4), 397-411.

https://doi.org/10.1108/09513550610669211

- Takeda, M., & Helms, M., (2006b) Bureaucracy, meet catastrophe: Analysis of tsunami disaster relief efforts and their implications for global emergency governance. *International Journal of Public Sector Management*, 19(2), 204-217. https://doi.org/10.1108/09513550610650446
- Takeda, M., Jones, R., & Helms, M. M. (2017). Promoting sense-making in volatile environments: Developing resilience in disaster management. *Journal of Human Behavior in the Social Environment, 27*(8), 791-805. https://doi.org/10.1080/10911359.2017.1338173
- Tang, P., Chen, H., & Shao, S. (2018). Examining the intergovernmental and interorganizational network of responding to major accidents for improving the emergency management system in china. *Complexity*, 16. https://doi.org/10.1155/2018/8935872
- Tourish, D. (2019). Is Complexity leadership theory complex enough? A critical appraisal, some modifications and suggestions for further research. *Organization Studies*, *40*(2), 219–238. https://doi.org/10.1177/0170840618789207
- Tomkins, L. (2017). Using interpretative phenomenological psychology in organizational research with working Careers. In J. Brook, & N. King

(Ed.), Applied Qualitative Research in Psychology. London: Palgrave.

Tuffour, I. (2017). A critical overview of interpretative phenomenological analysis: a contemporary qualitative research approach. Journal of Healthcare Communications, 2(4), 52. https://doi.org/10.4172/2472-1654.1000093

- Twigg, J., & Mosel, I. (2017). Emergent groups and spontaneous volunteers in urban disaster response. *Environment and Urbanization*, 29(2), 443–458. https://doi.org/10.1177/0956247817721413
- Uhl-Bien, M. (2021). Complexity leadership and followership: Changed leadership in a changed world. *Journal of Change Management*, 21(2), 144-162. https://doi.org/10.1080/14697017.2021.1917490
- Uhl-Bien, M., & Arena, M. (2017). Complexity leadership. Enabling people and organizations for adaptability. *Organizational Dynamics*, 469-20. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.orgdyn.2016.12.001
- Uhl-Bien, M., & Arena, M. (2018). Leadership for organizational adaptability: A theoretical synthesis and integrative framework. *The Leadership Quarterly, 29*(1), 89-104. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2017.12.009
- Uhl-Bien, M., & Marion, R. (2009). Complexity leadership in bureaucratic forms of organizing: A meso model. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 20(4), 631-650. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2009.04.007
- Uhl-Bien, M., Marion, R., & McKelvey, B. (2007). Complexity leadership theory:
 Shifting leadership from the industrial age to the knowledge era. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 18(4), 298-318. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2007.04.002
- United Nations Office of Disaster Risk Reduction. (2020). *Human cost of disasters*. https://reliefweb.int/report/world/human-cost-disasters-overview-last-20-years-2000-2019
- United States. (2019). National response framework.

Van Wart, M., & Kapucu, N. (2011). Crisis management competencies: The case of emergency managers in the USA. *Public Management Review*, 13(4), 489-511. https://doi.org/10.1080/14719037.2010.525034

Vicary, S., Young, A., & Hicks, S. (2017). A reflective journal as learning process and contribution to quality and validity in interpretative phenomenological analysis. *Qualitative Social Work*, 16(4), 550-565.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1473325016635244

- Wagstaff, C., Jeong, H., Nolan, M., Wilson, T., Tweedlie, J., Phillips, E., ... & Holland,F. (2014). The accordion and the deep bowl of spaghetti: Eight researchers'experiences of using IPA as a methodology. *Qualitative Report, 19*(24), 1-15.
- Walker, W. (2007). Ethical considerations in phenomenological research. *Nurse Researcher*, 14(3), 36-45.
- Waugh, W. L., Jr., & Streib, G. (2006). Collaboration and leadership for effective emergency management. *Public Administration Review*, 66(Suppl1), 131–140. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-6210.2006.00673.x
- Weber, M., (1978). *Economy and society: An outline of interpretive sociology*. In Roth,G., & Wittich, C. (Eds.), Berkeley: University of California Press.
- Weitzer, R., & Tuch, S. A. (2004). Race and perceptions of police misconduct. Social problems, 51(3), 305-325. https://doi.org/10.1525/sp.2004.51.3.305
- Whiting, L. S. (2008). Semi-structured interviews: Guidance for novice researchers. *Nursing Standard*, 22(23).

- Whittaker, J., McLennan, B., & Handmer, J. (2015). A review of informal volunteerism in emergencies and disasters: Definition, opportunities and challenges.
 International Journal of Disaster Risk Reduction, 13, 358–368.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijdrr.2015.07.010
- Willig, C. (2013). Introducing qualitative research in psychology. [electronic resource](3rd ed.). Open University Press.
- Wukich, C., & Robinson, S. E. (2013). Leadership strategies at the meso level of emergency management networks. *International Review of Public Administration*, 18(1), 41-59.
- Williams, T. A., Gruber, D. A., Sutcliffe, K. M., Shepherd, D. A., & Zhao, E. Y. (2017). Organizational response to adversity: Fusing crisis management and resilience research streams. *Academy of Management Annals*, 11(2), 733-769. https://doi.org/org/10.5465/annals.2015.0134

Appendix A: Interview Guide

Participant Name:			<u></u>	<u></u>	<u></u>
Agency:	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	<u></u>	<u></u>		·····
Date:					

Interview Script

Good Morning/Afternoon,

I would like to thank you for participating in this study. My name is Tony Riscica, I am a graduate student at Walden University, and the study is in partial fulfillment of my Ph.D. We have received your informed consent form. As indicated in the form, participation in this study is voluntary, all information provided during the interview is kept confidential, and you may stop at any time during the interview and withdraw from the study. The interview is scheduled to last for approximately one hour.

The research is designed to understand emergency management leader's experiences as they respond to catastrophic incidents. The study aims to understand better organizational challenges and operational challenges that emergency management leaders may have experienced during response operations to consider how these challenges could be mitigated.

To capture your responses accurately, I would like to audiotape our interview. Once the interview is transcribed, I will email it to you to confirm that we have accurately captured

your responses. The only individuals who will have access to the interview data will be committee members and me.

Interview Questions

Background

How long have you worked in your current capacity as an Emergency Manager or senior member of the emergency response team?

What catastrophic incidents were you in a leadership position for?

What position did you hold?

Topic Questions

Topic I: RQ1. What are the lived experiences of emergency management leaders in catastrophic disasters given the bureaucratic organizational structures in which they operate?

Tell me about your experience as an emergency management leader?

• At what level, county, state, federal have you worked as an emergency management leader?

What are some of the emergency management organizations you have worked for?

- What was the organizational structure like? Structured or Unstructured?
- How did you feel the organizational structure supported routine response operations? Catastrophic? Why?
- Can you give me some examples based on your experiences?

What are some of your experiences as an emergency management leader responding to a catastrophic incident?

- Based on your experiences, do catastrophic incidents differ from routine responses? Please explain?
- What are some of your experiences with organizational processes and procedures during catastrophic incidents? Are organizational processes and procedures different in routine and catastrophic incidents? If yes, can you tell me any examples where these processes and procedures differed or influenced the response?
- As an emergency management leader, how do you feel organizational processes and procedures influence responses to catastrophic incidents? Can you provide some examples?

What are some of the management challenges confronted during your response to the catastrophic incident? Can you provide any examples?

- How do you feel the organizational structure influenced the management challenges confronted?
- What are some of your experiences as an emergency management leader when confronted with these challenges? Can you provide some examples?

How do you feel the organizational structure influenced your decision making during catastrophic incidents?

- Can you tell me about some of your experiences?
- How do you feel the organizational structure influenced your decisionmaking ability? Can you give me some examples?

Topic II RQ2. How do emergency management leaders find equilibrium between bureaucratic organizing processes and the need for adaptive responses in catastrophic incidents?

How do you feel defined processes and procedures characteristic bureaucratic organizational processes in emergency management influence your ability to adapt to any challenges that may be confronted during routine and catastrophic incidents?

- Can you tell me about some of your experiences?
- Was the response outcome positive or negative? Why?

Topic III RQ3. How does member behavior in bureaucratic structures influence emergency management leader decision making?

How do you feel an emergency management organization's culture influences emergency management leaders and subordinate actions during a response to a catastrophic incident?

- Can you tell me about some of your experiences?
- If positive, why? If negative, why?